
           

CALENDAR FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT

BOARD CHAMBERS ROOM 107, ADMINISTRATION BUILDING, 651 PINE STREET

MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 94553-1229

JOHN GIOIA, CHAIR

CANDACE ANDERSEN, VICE CHAIR

MARY N. PIEPHO

KAREN MITCHOFF

FEDERAL D. GLOVER

DAVID J. TWA, CLERK OF THE BOARD AND COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, (925) 335-1900

JEFF CARMAN, FIRE CHIEF

PERSONS WHO WISH TO ADDRESS THE BOARD DURING PUBLIC COMMENT OR WITH RESPECT TO

AN ITEM THAT IS ON THE AGENDA, WILL BE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES.

The Board Chair may reduce the amount of time allotted per speaker at the beginning of each item or public comment period

depending on the number of speakers and the business of the day. 

Your patience is appreciated.

A closed session may be called at the discretion of the Board Chair.

Staff reports related to open session items on the agenda are also accessible on line at www.co.contra-costa.ca.us.

AGENDA

December 8, 2015

             

1:30 P.M. Convene and call to order.

 

CONSIDER CONSENT ITEMS (Items listed as C.1 through C.3 on the following agenda) –

Items are subject to removal from Consent Calendar by request of any Director or on request for

discussion by a member of the public. Items removed from the Consent Calendar will be

considered with the Discussion Items.
 

PRESENTATIONS
 

PR.1   PRESENTATION on federal funding programs available to the Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District for its ambulance transport program. (Jeff Carman,

Fire Chief)
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

D. 1 CONSIDER Consent Items previously removed.
 

D. 2 PUBLIC COMMENT (3 Minutes/Speaker)
 

D.3   CONSIDER accepting a report form the Fire Chief providing a status summary for

http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us


D.3   CONSIDER accepting a report form the Fire Chief providing a status summary for

ongoing Fire District activities and initiatives. (Jeff Carman, Fire Chief)
 

D.4   HEARING to consider adopting urgency Ordinance No. 2015-24 and Ordinance

No. 2015-25, authorizing the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District to

charge emergency ambulance services fees within Emergency Response Areas 1,

2, and 5 in Contra Costa County. (Jeff Carman, Fire Chief)
 

D.5   CONSIDER confirming adoption of Resolutions No. 2014/5 and 2015/4 that

approved Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District and the United Professional Firefighters, Local

1230 and between the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and the United

Chief Officers' Association, modifying Section 14 of the MOUs. (David Twa,

County Administrator)
 

D.6   CONSIDER accepting written acknowledgment by the County Administrator

(Chief Executive Officer) that he understands the current and future costs of the

health benefit changes for members of the United Chief Officers' Association and

UPFF, Local 1230 and certain persons retired from classifications represented by

the United Chief Officers' Association and UPFF, Local 1230, as determined by

the County’s actuary in the November 10, 2015 and January 9, 2015 Actuarial

Reports. (David Twa, County Administrator)
 

CONSENT ITEMS
 

Personnel Actions
 

C.1   ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21772 to establish the classification

of Fire Investigator-56 Hour (represented), reclassify three Fire Investigators

(represented) positions to Fire Investigator-56 Hour and the incumbents and

abolish the classification of Fire Investigator (represented) in the Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District. (Cost Neutral)
 

C.2   ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21786 to add three Fire District

Dispatcher (represented) positions in the Contra Costa County Fire Protection

District. (100% CCCFPD Operating Fund)
 

Appropriation Adjustments
 

C.3   EMS Ambulance Transport Fund (7040): APPROVE Appropriations and Revenue

Adjustment No. 5019 authorizing new revenue in the amount of $12,300,000 in the

EMS Ambulance Transport Fund (7040) and appropriate it to fund expenditures

related to the provision of ambulance transport services within Exclusive

Operating Areas I, II and V within Contra Costa County. (100% Transport

Reimbursement funds)
 



GENERAL INFORMATION

The Board meets in its capacity as the Board of Directors of the Contra Costa County Fire

Protection District pursuant to Ordinance Code Section 24-2.402. Persons who wish to address the

Board of Directors should complete the form provided for that purpose and furnish a copy of any

written statement to the Clerk.

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and

distributed by the Clerk of the Board to a majority of the members of the Board of Directors less

than 72 hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection at 651 Pine Street, First

Floor, Room 106, Martinez, CA 94553, during normal business hours. All matters listed under

CONSENT ITEMS are considered by the Board of Directors to be routine and will be enacted by

one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested by a member of

the Board or a member of the public prior to the time the Commission votes on the motion to

adopt. Persons who wish to speak on matters set for PUBLIC HEARINGS will be heard when the

Chair calls for comments from those persons who are in support thereof or in opposition thereto.

After persons have spoken, the hearing is closed and the matter is subject to discussion and action

by the Board. Comments on matters listed on the agenda or otherwise within the purview of the

Board of Directors can be submitted to the office of the Clerk of the Board via mail: Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District Board of Directors, 651 Pine Street Room 106, Martinez, CA

94553; by fax: 925-335-1913.

The District will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to

attend Board meetings who contact the Clerk of the Board at least 24 hours before the meeting, at

(925) 335-1900; TDD (925) 335-1915. An assistive listening device is available from the Clerk,

Room 106. Copies of recordings of all or portions of a Board meeting may be purchased from the

Clerk of the Board. Please telephone the Office of the Clerk of the Board, (925) 335-1900, to make

the necessary arrangements. Applications for personal subscriptions to the Board Agenda may be

obtained by calling the Office of the Clerk of the Board, (925) 335-1900. The Board of Directors’

agenda and meeting materials are available for inspection at least 96 hours prior to each meeting at

the Office of the Clerk of the Board, 651 Pine Street, Room 106, Martinez, California.

Subscribe to receive to the weekly Board Agenda by calling the Office of the Clerk of the Board,

(925) 335-1900 or using the County's on line subscription feature at the County’s Internet Web

Page, where agendas and supporting information may also be viewed:

www.co.contra-costa.ca.us 

ADVISORY COMMISSION

The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Advisory Fire Commission is scheduled to meet

next on Monday, December 14, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. at the District Training Center, 2945 Treat

Blvd., Concord, CA 94518.

AGENDA DEADLINE: Thursday, 12 noon, 12 days before the Tuesday Board meetings.

http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us


Glossary of Acronyms, Abbreviations, and other Terms (in alphabetical order):

The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District has a policy of making limited use of acronyms,

abbreviations, and industry-specific language in its Board of Supervisors meetings and written

materials. Following is a list of commonly used language that may appear in oral presentations and

written materials associated with Board meetings:

AB Assembly Bill

ABAG Association of Bay Area Governments

ACA Assembly Constitutional Amendment

ADA Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

AFSCME American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees

ARRA American Recovery & Reinvestment Act of 2009

BAAQMD Bay Area Air Quality Management District

BART Bay Area Rapid Transit District

BayRICS Bay Area Regional Interoperable Communications System

BGO Better Government Ordinance

BOC Board of Commissioners

CALTRANS California Department of Transportation

CAER Community Awareness Emergency Response

CAL-EMA California Emergency Management Agency

CAO County Administrative Officer or Office

CBC California Building Code

CCCPFD (ConFire) Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

CCHP Contra Costa Health Plan

CCTA Contra Costa Transportation Authority

CCRMC Contra Costa Regional Medical Center

CCWD Contra Costa Water District

CFC California Fire Code

CFDA Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance

CEQA California Environmental Quality Act

CIO Chief Information Officer

COLA Cost of living adjustment

ConFire (CCCFPD) Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

CPA Certified Public Accountant

CPF – California Professional Firefighters

CPI Consumer Price Index

CSA County Service Area

CSAC California State Association of Counties

CTC California Transportation Commission

dba doing business as

EBMUD East Bay Municipal Utility District

ECCFPD East Contra Costa Fire Protection District

EIR Environmental Impact Report

EIS Environmental Impact Statement

EMCC Emergency Medical Care Committee

EMS Emergency Medical Services



et al. et alii (and others)

FAA Federal Aviation Administration

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

FTE Full Time Equivalent

FY Fiscal Year

GIS Geographic Information System

HCD (State Dept of) Housing & Community Development

HHS (State Dept of ) Health and Human Services

HOV High Occupancy Vehicle

HR Human Resources

HUD United States Department of Housing and Urban Development

IAFF International Association of Firefighters

ICC International Code Council

IFC International Fire Code

Inc. Incorporated

IOC Internal Operations Committee

ISO Industrial Safety Ordinance

JPA Joint (exercise of) Powers Authority or Agreement

Lamorinda Lafayette-Moraga-Orinda Area

LAFCo Local Agency Formation Commission

LLC Limited Liability Company

LLP Limited Liability Partnership

Local 1 Public Employees Union Local 1

Local 1230 Contra Costa County Professional Firefighters Local 1230

MAC Municipal Advisory Council

MBE Minority Business Enterprise

MIS Management Information System

MOE Maintenance of Effort

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

MTC Metropolitan Transportation Commission

NACo National Association of Counties

NEPA National Environmental Policy Act

NFPA National Fire Protection Association

OES-EOC Office of Emergency Services-Emergency Operations Center

OPEB Other Post Employment Benefits

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration

PARS Public Agencies Retirement Services

PEPRA Public Employees Pension Reform Act

RFI Request For Information

RFP Request For Proposal

RFQ Request For Qualifications

SB Senate Bill

SBE Small Business Enterprise

SEIU Service Employees International Union

SUASI Super Urban Area Security Initiative

SWAT Southwest Area Transportation Committee

TRANSPAC Transportation Partnership & Cooperation (Central)

TRANSPLAN Transportation Planning Committee (East County)



TRE or TTE Trustee

TWIC Transportation, Water and Infrastructure Committee

UASI Urban Area Security Initiative

UCOA United Chief Officers Association

vs. versus (against)

WAN Wide Area Network

WBE Women Business Enterprise

WCCTAC West Contra Costa Transportation Advisory Committee



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

PRESENTATION on federal funding programs available to the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District for its

ambulance transport program. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Presentation only. No fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District, as a public 911 ambulance service provider, may be eligible for

supplemental federal reimbursement for the cost of services provided to certain patients with government insurance.

The federal funding programs are called Ground Emergency Medical Transport (GEMT) and Inter-Governmental

Transfer (IGT). Funding from these programs is available to fire protection district's that provide ambulance services

to assist in the recovery of costs associated with providing ambulance services to patients with government insurance

(e.g., Medicaid).

Medi-Cal (California's version of Medicaid) reimburses ambulance providers at rates significantly less that the cost of

providing ambulance services. California law prohibits ambulance providers from billing the patient for the difference

between the ambulance cost and Medi-Cal reimbursement. Therefore, 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Jeff Carman, Fire Chief

(925) 941-3500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the
Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

PR.1

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Presentation on Federal Funding Programs Available to Fire-Based Ambulance Service Providers



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

ambulance services operated by public agencies that meet program requirements can seek cost-based

reimbursement for certain patients who are covered by Medi-Cal.

This presentation will provide an overview of the programs, describe the eligibility requirements, and provide an

estimation of potential supplemental reimbursement funding available to the District.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

This item is an informational presentation item only.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.

ATTACHMENTS

GEMT/IGT PowerPoint 



Economic Update 
CCCFPD Ambulance Service

A. P. Triton LLC©

1



GOALS

 Provide for a stable system

 Reduce, if not eliminate, financial risk

 Generate a positive cash flow for 
reinvestment

2



ACHIEVEMENTS

 System created at lower than actual 
collections

 Partnership formed to allow Federal 
participation

 Designed to promote cost efficiencies 

3



MYTHS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 Reduction of insurance benefits

 Reduction in Medi-Cal reimbursement 
26% down to 24%

 Excessive co-pays reduce 
reimbursements

4



FACTS
 Increased call volume + actual collection = 

revenue up 

 GEMT is the law of the land and may double 
soon

 IGT’s are retrospective and unknown until 
applied for

 Partnership constructed to be self-sustaining 
without supplements

5



WHERE’S THE MONEY?

 Increased call volume + actual 
billing/collection = $3.9 million 

 GEMT as of today = $1.6 million

 Total revenue 1st year based on actuals = 
$5.5 million

6



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACCEPT a report from the Fire Chief providing a status summary for ongoing Fire District activities and initiatives. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND: 

At the request of the Contra Costa County Fire Board of Directors, the Fire Chief is providing a report on the status

and progress of the various District initiatives. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

The report will not be formally accepted by the Board of Directors. 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

No impact. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Jeff Carman,

925-941-3500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board
of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

D.3

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Fire Chief's Report



ATTACHMENTS

Fire Chief

Report 



 
 
 

2010 Geary Road, Pleasant Hill, CA 94523-4619 ● (925) 941-3300 ● www.cccfpd.org 

Contra Costa County  Fire Protection District  

 

 

December 8, 2015 
 

 
 TO: Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Jeff Carman, Fire Chief 
 
 RE: Fire Chief’s Report 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 The District completed contract negotiations with the Contra Costa County EMS 
Agency and AMR ambulance. The contracts were approved by the Board on 
November 17, 2015. A contract has been executed with our billing service 
provider, Intermedix, and the new transport program will officially begin on 
January 1, 2016.  The dispatch consolidation will be delayed until February 1, 
2016 due to some technical issues. 
 

 The District completed the testing and assessment of Fire Station 16.  We are 
still awaiting the final written report from the structural engineer.  Preliminary 
indications are that we can proceed with our plan to renovate the station without 
rebuilding completely.  Building plans should be drafted shortly, and once those 
are complete, we can go out to bid for the construction phase. 
 

 The City of Pittsburg will be forming a Community Facilities District (CFD) for a 
future development project. Deputy Fire Chief Broschard and the Office of 
County Counsel are working with the Pittsburg city attorney to draft the 
agreement addressing the transfer of CFD funds to the District and the District’s 
use of the CFD funds.  We are pleased that City Manager Joe Sbranti recognized 
that property tax allocations alone do not support the required amount of fire and 
EMS protection needed by the public and additional per-parcel fees are required. 
The District will continue to work with the other cities we serve to develop CFDs 
there as well. 
 

 The District appointed a new Deputy Fire Chief.  Assistant Fire Chief Lewis 
Broschard was officially promoted to Deputy Fire Chief effective December 1, 
2015. The Deputy Chief will work alongside the Fire Chief addressing the needs 
of the District at an executive level and will help perform many of the planning 
related tasks that simply could not be done with existing staff. 
  



Board of Directors 
December 8, 2015 
Page 2 
 

 Jared Palant and Sean Carder were promoted this month to the position of Fire 
Captain. Both employees bring experience and enthusiasm to their positions and 
will be assets to the District. 
 

 The District continues to work with County Human Resources to hire dispatchers, 
a communications manager, apparatus mechanics, a fleet manager, and fire 
investigators. 
 

 The District continues to work with the City of San Pablo to rebuild Fire Station 
70. San Pablo has committed to providing $2 million towards building a new 
station.  The existing Station 70 Squad agreement between the two agencies is 
currently being amended by County Counsel, and the District is soliciting the 
services of an architect so that building plans can be drafted. Once plans are in 
hand, the District will go out for bid for construction services. 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

A. OPEN the public hearing on the following two ordinances:

1. Ordinance No. 2015-24, an urgency ordinance authorizing the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

to charge emergency ambulance services fees on and from January 1, 2016, through January 7, 2016.

2. Ordinance No. 2015-25, an ordinance authorizing the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District to charge

emergency ambulance services fees beginning January 8, 2016.

B. RECEIVE testimony and CLOSE the public hearing.

C. ADOPT Ordinance No. 2015-24, which becomes effective immediately and continues in effect through the end of

the day on January 7, 2016.

D. ADOPT Ordinance No. 2015-25, which becomes effective on January 8, 2016. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Jeff Carman, Fire Chief

(925) 941-3500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the
Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

D.4

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Cost Recovery for Emergency Ambulance Services



FISCAL IMPACT:

The ordinances will allow the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District to recover the costs associated with the

provision of emergency ambulance services in Emergency Response Areas (ERAs) 1, 2, and 5 within Contra

Costa County effective January 1, 2016.

BACKGROUND:

On February 27, 2015, the Contra Costa County EMS Agency (CCCEMSA) posted the 2015 Contra Costa

County Request for Proposals (RFP) for Emergency Ambulance Service for ERAs 1, 2, and 5 within the County.

The deadline for receipt of the proposals was May 21, 2015. A single proposal was submitted jointly by the Fire

District and American Medical Response West (AMR). The Fire District and AMR worked cooperatively as the

“Alliance” to submit their proposal in which the Fire District will contract with the County for the provision of

emergency ambulance services with AMR as its subcontractor.

The Alliance bid was subsequently reviewed and scored by a multi-disciplinary proposal review panel.

Concurrent with the RFP review panel process, an independent financial analysis and report was conducted by the

County Administrator’s consultant Citygate Associates, LLC, and delivered to the Board of Supervisors on July

21, 2015.

On July 21, 2015, the Board of Supervisors approved the Health Services Director recommendation to award the

emergency ambulance services contract to the District and directed staff to commence with contract negotiations

between the District and CCCEMSA and return with a negotiated contract for final approval. After several

months of negotiations, a final contract was submitted for Board approval on November 17, 2015.

Exhibit D of the contract between Contra Costa County and the District establishes the Service Rate Schedule for

emergency ambulance services. These are the rates at which patients will be billed effective January 1, 2016, for

the District’s delivery of emergency ambulance services.

The rates stated in the Service Rate Schedule were established by CCCEMSA with input from their RFP

consultant, Fitch and Associates. A number of factors were considered in establishing the rates. Some of those

factors include historical rate trends, transport volume, projections regarding current and future costs of providing

ambulance services (including subcontractor and billing costs), projections regarding net collection rates based on

the current payer mix in Contra Costa County, potential deteriorations of net collections due to changes in the

payer mix, reimbursement caps in lower-paying government plans (e.g., Medi-Cal and Medicare),potential

decreasing ambulance payments rates in commercial plans, the proliferation of high deductible plans, potential

future changes in federal and state health care and health insurance laws, and the need to establish a significant

reserve fund to provide some insulation from the aforementioned risks.

To determine the District’s emergency ambulance response base rate of $2,100 and mileage rate of $50 per patient

transport mile, CCCEMSA and its consultant reviewed the ALS 1 emergency base rate and loaded ambulance

mileage rate currently being charged by AMR under its current contract with the County, and recommended a

10% increase. CCCEMSA recommended no change to the oxygen administration charge, and that it should

remain $175 in 2016.

To determine if the Alliance model would be sustainable at the CCCEMSA-established rates, the District

projected: (1) the number of unit (ambulance) hours needed from AMR per week (based on 2015 data) to perform

under the emergency ambulance services contract; (2) the estimated average patient charge per transport; (3) the

estimated net collection rate for patients receiving emergency ambulance services in Contra Costa County (4) the

cost of collecting emergency ambulance services fees billed; (5) the ambulance unit hour fee paid to AMR by the

District; and (6) the District’s administrative staffing costs to deliver emergency ambulance services. Some of the

foregoing projections were provided by Citygate Associates in its independent financial analysis and report to the

Board of Supervisors.

While this analysis contains a number of assumptions, which are necessary due to the nature of the variation in

recovery rates and other factors, the analysis indicates that the emergency ambulance services fees will allow



District to recover its reasonable costs of providing emergency ambulance services. As recommended by Citygate

Associates, the District intends to establish a reserve fund of six months of revenues plus a capital equipment

replacement reserve.

Adoption of Ordinance No. 2015-24 is necessary to avoid a threat to the public health, safety, and welfare that

would result if the District cannot begin billing patients receiving emergency ambulance services until January 8,

2016. The District’s contract with the County for the provision of emergency ambulance services is effective

January 1, 2016. If the District were only to adopt an emergency ambulance services fee ordinance on a

non-urgency basis, it would not be able to begin billing patients receiving emergency ambulance services until 30

days after adoption of the ordinance; i.e., January 8, 2016. Because of the high volume of emergency ambulance

service calls provided by the District, it would forego a significant amount of revenue if it could not bill

emergency ambulance service patients for emergency ambulance services until January 8, 2016. The failure to

enact Ordinance No. 2015-24 may prevent the delivery of emergency ambulance services in ERAs 1, 2, and 5 of

the County, and prevent the District from paying AMR as its ambulance services subcontractor between January

1, 2016, and January 7, 2016.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If the Ordinance No. 2015-24 and Ordinance No. 2015-25 are not adopted, the District will not be able to recover

its costs of providing emergency ambulance services under its contract with the County.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Approximately 10% of emergency medical service responses involve children under the age of 15.

ATTACHMENTS

Ordinance No. 2015-24 

Ordinance No. 2015-25 

CY2016 Service Rate Analysis 

Service Contract: Contra Costa County and Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 



ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 

 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 
(Uncodified) 

 

URGENCY INTERIM COST RECOVERY ORDINANCE FOR EMERGENCY 

AMBULANCE SERVICES 

 

 The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors, as and constituting the Board of 

Directors of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District, ordains as follows:   

  

SECTION I.  Authority.  This ordinance is enacted pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

sections 13910 through 13919, and Government Code section 25123. 

 

SECTION II.  Findings and Purpose. 

 

A. Beginning January 1, 2016, the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (the 

“District”) will provide Emergency Ambulance Services in Emergency Response Areas 1, 

2 and 5 of Contra Costa County (the “Service Area”) pursuant to the Emergency 

Ambulance Services contract dated January 1, 2016 (the “Emergency Ambulance Services 

Contract”), between Contra Costa County (the “County”) and the District. 

 

B. Under the Emergency Ambulance Services Contract, the District is required to employ all 

resources necessary to continuously provide Emergency Ambulance Services to persons in 

the Service Area twenty-four (24) hours a day, every day, when requested by an emergency 

medical dispatch center. 

 

C. The District does not possess the infrastructure or personnel necessary to directly perform 

the Emergency Ambulance Services required under the Emergency Ambulance Services 

Contract, and has therefore entered into an Emergency Ambulance Services subcontract 

with American Medical Response West (the “Ambulance Services Subcontractor”), which 

will provide Emergency Ambulance Services in the Service Area on the District’s behalf. 

 

D. The District responds to a high volume of calls for Emergency Ambulance Services 

through its Ambulance Services Subcontractor, which deploys personnel to incidents and 

provides Emergency Ambulance Services treatment and transport to persons at those 

incidents. 

 

E. Under the Emergency Ambulance Services Contract, the County requires the District to 

charge Emergency Ambulance Services patients the following amounts: (1) an Emergency 

Ambulance Response base rate: $2,100; (2) a mileage rate (for each mile traveled with a 

loaded patient): $50.00 per mile; (3) an oxygen administration charge: $175.00; and (4) a 

treat and refused transport charge in some cases: $450.00.  The District is not permitted to 

charge any more or any less than the foregoing rates under the Emergency Ambulance 

Services Contract. 

 

F. The District has reasonably calculated its costs of providing Emergency Ambulance 

Services to persons at an incident.  These costs include the District’s costs of its 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor and the costs of its billing and collections subcontractor 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 

 2 

to provide Emergency Ambulance Services on a per-patient basis.  The Emergency 

Ambulance Services fees established by this ordinance are calculated based on the 

District’s actual costs of providing Emergency Ambulance Services on a per-patient basis.  

 

G. This ordinance is necessary for the District to begin billing patients receiving Emergency 

Ambulance Services beginning on January 1, 2016, the effective date of the Emergency 

Ambulance Services Contract.  A threat to the public health, safety, and welfare would 

result if the District is unable to begin billing patients receiving Emergency Ambulance 

Services on January 1, 2016.  This ordinance is being adopted on December 8, 2015.  At 

the same meeting, the District is adopting a non-urgency ordinance authorizing the District 

to charge emergency ambulance services fees.  The effective date of the non-urgency 

ordinance is January 8, 2016.  If the District were only to adopt an Emergency Ambulance 

Services fee ordinance on a non-urgency basis, it would not be able to begin billing patients 

receiving Emergency Ambulance Services until 30 days after adoption of the ordinance; 

i.e., January 8, 2016.  Because of the high volume of Emergency Ambulance Service calls 

provided by the District, it would forego a significant amount of revenue if it could not bill 

Emergency Ambulance Service patients for Emergency Ambulance Services until January 

8, 2016.  The failure to enact this urgency Emergency Ambulance Services ordinance may 

prevent the delivery of Emergency Ambulance Services in the Service Area and prevent the 

District from paying its Ambulance Services Subcontractor between January 1, 2016, and 

January 7, 2016. 

 

SECTION III.  Definitions.  For purposes of this ordinance, the following terms have the 

following meanings:     

  

(a) “ALS” means advanced life support emergency medical services designed to provide 

definitive prehospital emergency medical care that are administered by authorized 

personnel (i) under the direct supervision of a facility designated by Contra Costa County 

Emergency Medical Services Agency (“CCCEMSA”) pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

section 1798.100, or (ii) by utilizing approved prehospital treatment protocols or standing 

orders as part of the County EMS system, and which are administered at the scene of an 

emergency, during transport to an acute care hospital or other approved facility, during 

inter-facility transfers, and while in the emergency department of an acute care hospital 

until responsibility is assumed by the emergency department or other medical staff of that 

hospital.  ALS may include, without limitation, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, cardiac 

monitoring, cardiac defibrillation, advanced airway management, intravenous therapy, 

administration of specified drugs, and other medicinal preparations, and other specified 

techniques and procedures. 

   

(b) “BLS” means basic life support emergency medical services including, but not limited to, 

emergency first aid and cardiopulmonary resuscitation medical care procedures which, as a 

minimum, include recognizing respiratory and cardiac arrest and starting proper application 

of cardiopulmonary resuscitation to maintain life without invasive techniques, unless 

authorized by state law or regulation, until the victim may be transported or until ALS 

medical care is available. 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 

 3 

(c) “Emergency Ambulance Services” means emergency ambulance services involving the 

administration of ALS, BLS, or critical care transport, provided in response to 911 calls 

and/or requests for emergency medical services through a public safety agency where 911 

calls are first received for a particular jurisdiction, or prehospital emergency calls received 

directly by the District. 

 

SECTION IV.  Emergency Ambulance Services Fees.  

 

(a) The Emergency Ambulance Services fees to recover the District’s actual costs of providing 

Emergency Ambulance Services to each patient are established in the amount specified in 

Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein.   

 

(b) During the period beginning January 1, 2016, and continuing through the end of the day on 

January 7, 2016, the Emergency Ambulance Services fees shall be charged to each person 

who receives District Emergency Ambulance Services during a single incident. 

 

SECTION V.  Fee Collection.   
 

(a) If the District provides Emergency Ambulance Services to a person through its Emergency 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor, the Fire Chief, or designee, including  the District’s 

Emergency Ambulance Services billing subcontractor, will send an invoice seeking 

payment of the Emergency Ambulance Services fees to the person, and to the insurance 

company that provides medical insurance coverage for the person (the “Insurer”) if the 

person or his or her representative has identified to the District or to its Emergency 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor the Insurer to which the invoice should be sent. 

  

(b) The Fire Chief, or designee, will recommend that the District Board of Directors approve 

and adopt policies and procedures for invoicing, billing, and receiving payments for each 

Emergency Ambulance Services fee charged under this ordinance.  The policies and 

procedures may include a process to discharge from accountability accounts that are not 

collectible.   

 

SECTION VI.  No Effect on Emergency Ambulance Services.  This ordinance neither 

expands nor limits Emergency Ambulance Services.  Nothing in this ordinance relieves the 

District from providing Emergency Ambulance Services.  Emergency Ambulance Services will 

continue to be provided without regard to whether a person is insured by an Insurer, and without 

regard to whether a person has the ability to pay the Emergency Ambulance Services fees.  

 

SECTION VII.  No Waiver of Other Means of Cost Recovery.  This ordinance does not 

preclude the District from recovering its Emergency Ambulance Services costs in any other 

manner authorized by law.   

    

SECTION VIII.  Severability.  If any fee or provision of this ordinance is held invalid or 

unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that holding shall not affect the validity or 

enforceability of the remaining fees or provisions, and the Board declares that it would have 

adopted each remaining part of this ordinance irrespective of any such invalidity. 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 

 4 

SECTION IX.  DECLARATION OF URGENCY.  This interim ordinance is hereby 

declared to be an urgency ordinance for the immediate preservation of the public safety, health, 

and welfare of the County, and it shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.  The facts 

constituting the urgency of this interim ordinance’s adoption are set forth in Section II. 

 

SECTION X.  Effective Period.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon passage 

by four-fifths vote of the Board and shall continue in effect through the end of the day on 

January 7, 2016.  Within 15 days after its passage, this ordinance shall be published once with 

the names of the directors voting for and against it in the Contra Costa Times, a newspaper 

published in this County. 

 

PASSED ON _________________________________ by the following vote: 

 

AYES:     

NOES:     

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  

 

ATTEST: DAVID J. TWA,     ____________________________ 

  Clerk of the Board of Supervisors  Board Chair 

  and County Administrator 

 

 

By:  ________________________   [SEAL] 

  Deputy     

 

 

 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-24 

 5 

Exhibit A 

 

Emergency Ambulance Services Fee Calculation 

  

 For each Emergency Ambulance Service call, District shall charge the patient the 

Emergency Ambulance Response Base Rate, plus mileage costs at the Mileage Rate.  If oxygen is 

administered to a patient, District shall charge the patient the Oxygen Administration Charge, 

whether transported or not. If a patient is treated and refuses transport, District shall charge the 

Treat and Refused Transport rate. 

 

1. Emergency Ambulance Response Base Rate ................................................. $2,100.00 

2. Mileage Rate (for each mile traveled with a loaded patient) .............................. $50.00 

3. Oxygen Administration Charge ........................................................................ $175.00 

4. Treat and Refused Transport ............................................................................. $450.00 



ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 

 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 
(Uncodified) 

 

COST RECOVERY ORDINANCE FOR EMERGENCY AMBULANCE SERVICES 

 

 The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors, as and constituting the Board of 

Directors of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District, ordains as follows:   

  

SECTION I.  Authority.  This ordinance is enacted pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

sections 13910 through 13919. 

 

SECTION II.  Findings and Purpose. 

 

A. Beginning January 1, 2016, the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (the 

“District”) will provide Emergency Ambulance Services in Emergency Response Areas 1, 

2 and 5 of Contra Costa County (the “Service Area”) pursuant to the Emergency 

Ambulance Services contract dated January 1, 2016 (the “Emergency Ambulance Services 

Contract”), between Contra Costa County (the “County”) and the District. 

 

B. Under the Emergency Ambulance Services Contract, the District is required to employ all 

resources necessary to continuously provide Emergency Ambulance Services to persons in 

the Service Area twenty-four (24) hours a day, every day, when requested by an emergency 

medical dispatch center. 

 

C. The District does not possess the infrastructure or personnel necessary to directly perform 

the Emergency Ambulance Services required under the Emergency Ambulance Services 

Contract, and has therefore entered into an Emergency Ambulance Services subcontract 

with American Medical Response West (the “Ambulance Services Subcontractor”), which 

will provide Emergency Ambulance Services in the Service Area on the District’s behalf. 

 

D. The District responds to a high volume of calls for Emergency Ambulance Services 

through its Ambulance Services Subcontractor, which deploys personnel to incidents and 

provides Emergency Ambulance Services treatment and transport to persons at those 

incidents. 

 

E. Under the Emergency Ambulance Services Contract, the County requires the District to 

charge Emergency Ambulance Services patients the following amounts: (1) an Emergency 

Ambulance Response base rate: $2,100; (2) a mileage rate (for each mile traveled with a 

loaded patient): $50.00 per mile; (3) an oxygen administration charge: $175.00; and (4) a 

treat and refused transport charge in some cases: $450.00.  The District is not permitted to 

charge any more or any less than the foregoing rates under the Emergency Ambulance 

Services Contract. 

 

F. The District has reasonably calculated its costs of providing Emergency Ambulance 

Services to persons at an incident.  These costs include the District’s costs of its 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor and the costs of its billing and collections subcontractor 

to provide Emergency Ambulance Services on a per-patient basis.  The Emergency 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 

 2 

Ambulance Services fees established by this ordinance are calculated based on the 

District’s actual costs of providing Emergency Ambulance Services on a per-patient basis.  

 

SECTION III.  Definitions.  For purposes of this ordinance, the following terms have the 

following meanings:     

  

(a) “ALS” means advanced life support emergency medical services designed to provide 

definitive prehospital emergency medical care that are administered by authorized 

personnel (i) under the direct supervision of a facility designated by Contra Costa County 

Emergency Medical Services Agency (“CCCEMSA”) pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

section 1798.100, or (ii) by utilizing approved prehospital treatment protocols or standing 

orders as part of the County EMS system, and which are administered at the scene of an 

emergency, during transport to an acute care hospital or other approved facility, during 

inter-facility transfers, and while in the emergency department of an acute care hospital 

until responsibility is assumed by the emergency department or other medical staff of that 

hospital.  ALS may include, without limitation, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, cardiac 

monitoring, cardiac defibrillation, advanced airway management, intravenous therapy, 

administration of specified drugs, and other medicinal preparations, and other specified 

techniques and procedures. 

   

(b) “BLS” means basic life support emergency medical services including, but not limited to, 

emergency first aid and cardiopulmonary resuscitation medical care procedures which, as a 

minimum, include recognizing respiratory and cardiac arrest and starting proper application 

of cardiopulmonary resuscitation to maintain life without invasive techniques, unless 

authorized by state law or regulation, until the victim may be transported or until ALS 

medical care is available. 

 

(c) “Emergency Ambulance Services” means emergency ambulance services involving the 

administration of ALS, BLS, or critical care transport, provided in response to 911 calls 

and/or requests for emergency medical services through a public safety agency where 911 

calls are first received for a particular jurisdiction, or prehospital emergency calls received 

directly by the District. 

 

SECTION IV.  Emergency Ambulance Services Fees.  

 

(a) The Emergency Ambulance Services fees to recover the District’s actual costs of providing 

Emergency Ambulance Services to each patient are established in the amount specified in 

Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein.   

 

(b) The Emergency Ambulance Services fees shall be charged to each person who receives 

District Emergency Ambulance Services during a single incident. 

 

(c) The District Board of Directors (the “Board”) may adjust the amount of the Emergency 

Ambulance Services fees established by this ordinance pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

section 13916. 

 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 

 3 

SECTION V.  Fee Collection.   
 

(a) If the District provides Emergency Ambulance Services to a person through its Emergency 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor, the Fire Chief, or designee, including  the District’s 

Emergency Ambulance Services billing subcontractor, will send an invoice seeking 

payment of the Emergency Ambulance Services fees to the person, and to the insurance 

company that provides medical insurance coverage for the person (the “Insurer”) if the 

person or his or her representative has identified to the District or to its Emergency 

Ambulance Services Subcontractor the Insurer to which the invoice should be sent. 

  

(b) The Fire Chief, or designee, will recommend that the District Board of Directors approve 

and adopt policies and procedures for invoicing, billing, and receiving payments for each 

Emergency Ambulance Services fee charged under this ordinance.  The policies and 

procedures may include a process to discharge from accountability accounts that are not 

collectible.   

 

SECTION VI.  No Effect on Emergency Ambulance Services.  This ordinance neither 

expands nor limits Emergency Ambulance Services.  Nothing in this ordinance relieves the 

District from providing Emergency Ambulance Services.  Emergency Ambulance Services will 

continue to be provided without regard to whether a person is insured by an Insurer, and without 

regard to whether a person has the ability to pay the Emergency Ambulance Services fees.  

 

SECTION VII.  No Waiver of Other Means of Cost Recovery.  This ordinance does not 

preclude the District from recovering its Emergency Ambulance Services costs in any other 

manner authorized by law.   

    

SECTION VIII.  Severability.  If any fee or provision of this ordinance is held invalid or 

unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that holding shall not affect the validity or 

enforceability of the remaining fees or provisions, and the Board declares that it would have 

adopted each remaining part of this ordinance irrespective of any such invalidity. 

 

SECTION IX.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective 30 days after its passage.  

Within 15 days after its passage, this ordinance shall be published once with the names of the 

directors voting for and against it in the Contra Costa Times, a newspaper published in this 

County. 

 

PASSED ON _________________________________ by the following vote: 

 

AYES:     

NOES:     

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  

 

ATTEST: DAVID J. TWA,     ____________________________ 

  Clerk of the Board of Supervisors  Board Chair 

  and County Administrator 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 

 4 

 

By:  ________________________   [SEAL] 

  Deputy     

 

 

 
 

 

 



 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2015-25 

 5 

Exhibit A 

 

Emergency Ambulance Services Fee Calculation 

  

 For each Emergency Ambulance Service call, District shall charge the patient the 

Emergency Ambulance Response Base Rate, plus mileage costs at the Mileage Rate.  If oxygen is 

administered to a patient, District shall charge the patient the Oxygen Administration Charge, 

whether transported or not. If a patient is treated and refuses transport, District shall charge the 

Treat and Refused Transport rate. 

 

1. Emergency Ambulance Response Base Rate ................................................. $2,100.00 

2. Mileage Rate (for each mile traveled with a loaded patient) .............................. $50.00 

3. Oxygen Administration Charge ........................................................................ $175.00 

4. Treat and Refused Transport ............................................................................. $450.00 



January February March April May June July August September October November December Total
Expenditures:

Ambulance Service Subcontractor $0 $0 $3,080,802 $2,882,041 $3,080,802 $2,981,422 $3,080,802 $2,981,422 $3,080,802 $3,080,802 $2,981,422 $3,080,802 $30,311,120
Invoicing and Collections $0 $0 $0 $55,744 $105,810 $95,570 $105,810 $102,397 $105,810 $102,397 $105,810 $105,810 $885,159

Administrative Staffing Costs (est.) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 $250,000 $250,000 $250,000 $250,000 $250,000 $1,500,000
$0 $0 $3,080,802 $2,937,785 $3,186,612 $3,076,992 $3,436,612 $3,333,819 $3,436,612 $3,433,199 $3,337,232 $3,436,612 $32,696,279

Revenue:
 Service Fees Collected $0 $0 $1,889,623 $3,586,785 $3,239,675 $3,586,785 $3,471,082 $3,586,785 $3,471,082 $3,586,785 $3,586,785 $3,471,082 $33,476,470

Monthly Surplus / Deficit $0 $0 ($1,191,179) $649,000 $53,063 $509,793 $34,469 $252,967 $34,469 $153,586 $249,553 $34,469 $780,192

Cumulative Fund Surplus / Deficit $0 $0 ($1,191,179) ($542,178) ($489,116) $20,677 $55,147 $308,113 $342,583 $496,169 $745,722 $780,192

Assumptions:
1.  5,173 Unit Hours/Week
2.  $134.48/Unit Hour (Ambulance Service Subcontractor)
3.  68,532 Annual Transports (2015 Data)
4.  $2,505 Average Patient Charge
5.  24.6% Net Collections Rate
6.  2.95% Invoicing and Collections

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District
Emergency Ambulance Service

January 2016 ‐ December 2016 Rate Analysis



























































































































































RECOMMENDATION(S): 

CONFIRM adoption of Resolutions No. 2014/5 and 2015/4 that approved Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

between the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and the United Professional Firefighters, Local 1230 and

between the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and the United Chief Officers' Association, modifying

Section 14 of the MOUs. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

As shown in the attached valuations, the result of the health plan changes described herein, if implemented, will

create a $22.6 million or 2.85% decrease in the Actuarial Accrued Liability and a $2.5 million or 2.86% decrease in

the calculated Annual Required Contribution. 

BACKGROUND: 

New Memoranda of Understanding were approved by the Contra Costa County Fire Protection Board on December

9, 2014, (Resolution No. 2014/5) and August 25, 2015, (Resolution No. 2015/4) for the UPFF, Local 1230 and

United Chief Officers' Association respectively. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Lisa Driscoll, County Finance

Director (925) 335-1023

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Ann Elliott, Employee Benefits Manager,   Jeff Carman, Chief CCCFPD,   Harjit S. Nahal, Assistant County Auditor,   County Counsel   

D.5

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: David Twa, County Administrator

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Confirm Adoption of Health Care Changes in MOUs with the United Chief Officers' Association and UPFF, Local

1230



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

> In summary, changes to the health and dental care provisions of those MOUs are:

UPFF, Local 1230 MOU Section 14:

Health & Welfare, Life & Dental 

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each

health plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District as of

November 30, 2015. If there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a health plan for 2016, the

District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For each calendar year

thereafter, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the monthly premium increase

above the 2015 plan premium.

Delta and PMI Delta Care 

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each

health plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District as of

November 30, 2015. In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a health plan

for 2016, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For each

calendar year thereafter, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the monthly

premium increase above the 2015 plan premium.

Dental Only 

Employees who elect dental coverage as stated above without health coverage will pay one cent ($.01) per

month for such coverage. Beginning on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly dental premium

subsidy for each dental plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the

District for 2015. If there is an increase in the premium charged by a dental plan for 2016, the District and

the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the increase. For each calendar year thereafter he District

and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium increase that is above the 2015 plan

premium.

In the event, in whole or in part, that the above amounts are greater than one hundred percent (100%) of the

applicable premium of any plan, the District’s contribution will not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of

the applicable plan premium.

Retirement Dental Coverage 

For employees hired on or after January 1, 2015, no monthly premium subsidy will be paid by the District

for any dental plan after they separate from District employment.

Dual coverage 

On and after January 1, 2015, each employee and retiree may be covered by only a single District health

and/or a single District dental plan, including CalPERS plans.

On and after January 1, 2015, each dependent may be covered by the health and/or dental plan of only one

spouse or one domestic partner.

UCOA MOU Section 14

Health and Welfare, Life and Dental Care 

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will contribute up to an amount equivalent to

80% of the 2016 CalPERS Kaiser premium.

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2017, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each

health plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District for that

plan as of November 30, 2016. If there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a health plan for

2017, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For each plan year



thereafter, and for each plan, the District and the employee will each pay fifty (50%) of the monthly

premium increase above the 2016 plan premiums.

Delta and PMI Delta Care 

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each

dental plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District as of

November 30, 2015. In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a dental plan

for 2016, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For each plan

year thereafter, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the monthly premium

increase above the 2015 plan premium.

Dental Only 

Employees who elect dental coverage as stated above without health coverage will pay one cent ($.01) per

month for such coverage. Beginning on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly dental premium

subsidy for each dental plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the

District for 2015. If there is an increase in the premium charged by a dental plan for 2016, the District and

the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the increase. For each plan year thereafter, the District

and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium increase that is above the 2015 plan

premium.

This action confirms the changes specified in the MOUs. The Government Code 7507 valuation reports for this

benefit change, considered by the Board of Directors on November 17, 2015, are attached.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Delayed implementation of health care rate revisions.

ATTACHMENTS

7507 Report for L1230 dated January 9, 2015 

7507 Report for UCOA dated November 10, 2015 



 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

650 California Street, 17th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94108-2702 
USA 

Tel +1 415 403 1333 
Fax +1 415 403 1334 

milliman.com 

 

 January 9, 2015 
Ms. Lisa Driscoll 
County Finance Director 
County Administrator’s Office 
651 Pine Street, 10th Floor 
Martinez, CA  94553 
 
Contra Costa County Retiree Health Plan 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1230 of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 
 
Dear Ms. Driscoll: 
 
As requested, we have estimated the cost impact of a proposed change to retiree health benefits for 
the International Association of Firefighters Local 1230 (“Local 1230”).  The proposed benefit 
change would apply to all Local 1230 employees and retirees for the Contra Costa County Fire 
Protection District (“District”).  The purpose of this analysis is to estimate the change in the District’s 
long-term other postemployment liability under GASB 45 (comparison of the present value of 
benefits, actuarial accrued liability, normal cost, annual required contribution, and projected benefit 
payments is shown before and after the proposed change) to comply with California Government 
Code Section 7507.  
 
Current Plan 

Currently, for eligible retirees from bargaining unit 4N, the District will pay a subsidy toward the cost 
of monthly medical premiums equal to 87% of the CalPERS Bay Area Basic Kaiser premium at 
each coverage level, but not more than the actual premium, if less.     
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the District will also subsidize an amount equal 
to 78% of the monthly dental premium.  For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical 
coverage, the District will subsidize an amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the 
retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month for such coverage. 
 
Proposed Plan 

District Premium Subsidy on or after January 1, 2016: For 2016 and each calendar year thereafter, 
the prior year’s District subsidy for each medical plan and rate tier will increase by 50% of the actual 
premium increase in the medical plan and rate tier in which the member is enrolled.  
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 2 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

For eligible retirees from bargaining unit 4N enrolled in both a medical and dental plan, the District 
will pay a subsidy equal to 50% of the cost of monthly dental premiums in 2016 and later.  For 
retirees enrolled only in a dental plan, retirees are required to pay $0.01 per month for dental 
coverage.  For 2016 and later, the required monthly contribution from retirees would increase each 
year by 50% of the dental premium increase.   
 
Results 

 2014 Actuarial Valuation Results 

 Current Plan 
Proposed Plan* 

(Local 1230 Change) Difference 
Present Value of Benefits    
Active Employees $625,243,000 $607,882,000 ($17,361,000) 
Retirees $567,919,000 $554,996,000 ($12,923,000) 
Total $1,193,162,000 $1,162,878,000 ($30,284,000) 
    
Actuarial Accrued Liability    
Active Employees $355,929,000 $347,330,000 ($8,599,000) 
Retirees $567,919,000 $554,996,000 ($12,923,000) 
Total $923,848,000 $902,326,000 ($21,522,000) 
    
Assets $129,426,000 $129,426,000  
Unfunded AAL $794,422,000 $772,900,000 ($21,522,000) 
Amortization of UAAL as of June 30, 2014 $59,872,000 $58,250,000 ($1,622,000) 
    
Normal Cost as of June 30, 2014 $28,666,000 $27,860,000 ($806,000) 
    
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $88,538,000 $86,110,000 ($2,428,000) 
    
* For comparison purposes, the liabilities associated with the proposed plan change were 

measured based on the 2014 premiums trended to 2015 using the trend assumption stated in 
our 2014 actuarial valuation. The actual calendar year 2015 medical and dental premiums may 
differ from the trended premiums and the liabilities based on actual 2015 premiums may also 
differ than the amounts shown above. 

 
The items shown in the table above are defined as follows: 
 
The Present Value of Benefits is the present value of projected benefits (projected claims less 
retiree contributions) discounted at the valuation interest rate (5.70%). 
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the present value of benefits that are attributed to past 
service only.  The portion attributed to future employee service is excluded.  For retirees, this is 
equal to the present value of benefits. For active employees, this is equal to the present value of 
benefits prorated by service to date over service at the expected retirement age. 
 
The Normal Cost is that portion of the District provided benefit attributable to employee service in 
the current year.  Employees are assumed to have an equal portion of the present value of benefits 
attributed to each year of service from date of hire to expected retirement age. 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 3 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) is equal to the Normal Cost plus an amount to amortize 
the unfunded AAL as a level dollar amount over a period of 30 years on a “closed” basis starting 
January 1, 2008.  There are 24 years remaining as of January 1, 2014.   
 
The table below contains a 25 year projection of projected benefit payments under the current and 
proposed benefit plans.  The projected benefit payments are net of required retiree contributions, 
but include the value of the implicit premium rate subsidy for non-Medicare retirees for whom the 
same premium rate is charged as for actives.  The projected benefit payments include only 
employees and retirees as of the valuation date (January 1, 2014).  Future employees are not 
reflected in the table below.   
 

 Projected Benefit Payments  

Year 
Current 

Plan 

Proposed Plan 
(Local 1230 

Change) Difference 
2014 $54,439,000  $54,439,000  $0  
2015 56,181,000 56,181,000 0  
2016 58,437,000 58,327,000 (110,000) 
2017 61,348,000 61,112,000 (236,000) 
2018 63,630,000 63,263,000 (367,000) 
2019 66,025,000 65,520,000 (505,000) 
2020 68,604,000 67,948,000 (656,000) 
2021 70,593,000 69,768,000 (825,000) 
2022 72,445,000 71,455,000 (990,000) 
2023 74,411,000 73,259,000 (1,152,000) 
2024 76,694,000 75,376,000 (1,318,000) 
2025 78,735,000 77,233,000 (1,502,000) 
2026 80,219,000 78,546,000 (1,673,000) 
2027 81,526,000 79,667,000 (1,859,000) 
2028 82,231,000 80,193,000 (2,038,000) 
2029 82,931,000 80,705,000 (2,226,000) 
2030 84,113,000 81,705,000 (2,408,000) 
2031 84,428,000 81,848,000 (2,580,000) 
2032 84,455,000 81,688,000 (2,767,000) 
2033 85,136,000 82,202,000 (2,934,000) 
2034 85,151,000 82,068,000 (3,083,000) 
2035 84,817,000 81,589,000 (3,228,000) 
2036 84,882,000 81,465,000 (3,417,000) 
2037 84,839,000 81,301,000 (3,538,000) 
2038 84,615,000 80,960,000 (3,655,000) 

 

Important Notes 

Except where noted above, the results in this letter are based on the same data, methods, 
assumptions, and plan provisions that are used in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation report for 
the Contra Costa County (“County”), dated August 8, 2014.  Appendices A through C contain a 
description of the current provisions assumptions and data used in the valuation report.  
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 4 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

In preparing our report, we relied, without audit, on information (some oral and some in writing) 
supplied by Contra Costa County’s staff.  This information includes but not limited to employee census 
data, financial information and plan provisions.  While Milliman has not audited the financial and 
census data, they have been reviewed for reasonableness and are, in our opinion, sufficient and 
reliable for the purposes of our calculations.  If any of this information as summarized in this report is 
inaccurate or incomplete, the results shown could be materially affected and this report may need to 
be revised.  
 
All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the District have been determined on the 
basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the 
experience of the District and reasonable expectations); and which, in combination, offer our best 
estimate of anticipated experience affecting the District.  Further, in our opinion, each actuarial 
assumption used is reasonably related to the experience of the Plan and to reasonable expectations 
which, in combination, represent our best estimate of anticipated experience for the District. 
 
This analysis is only an estimate of the Plan’s financial condition as of a single date.  It can neither 
predict the Plan’s future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness.  Actuarial valuations do 
not affect the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of District contributions.  While the 
valuation is based on an array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may 
also be reasonable and valuation results based on those assumptions would be different.  No one 
set of assumptions is uniquely correct. Determining results using alternative assumptions is outside 
the scope of our engagement. 
 
Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in 
this report due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the 
economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; 
increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these 
measurements (such as the end of an amortization period); and changes in plan provisions or 
applicable law. Due to the limited scope of our assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the 
potential range of future measurements. The District has the final decision regarding the 
appropriateness of the assumptions and actuarial cost methods. 
 
This letter is prepared solely for the internal business use of Contra Costa County.  To the extent 
that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s 
work may not be provided to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent.  Milliman does not 
intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party recipient of its work product.  Milliman’s 
consent to release its work product to any third party may be conditioned on the third party signing a 
Release, subject to the following exceptions: 
 

a) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the County's 
professional service advisors who are subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to 
not use Milliman’s work for any purpose other than to benefit the County.  

 
b) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to other 

governmental entities, as required by law.  
 
No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such 
recipients should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 5 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are actuaries.  Milliman’s advice is not intended to be 
a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel.  
 
The signing actuary is independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any relationship that 
would impair the objectivity of our work. 
 
On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the report 
is complete and accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 
accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the applicable Actuarial 
Standards of Practice of the American Academy of Actuaries.  The undersigned is a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of 
Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.  
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 John R. Botsford, FSA, MAAA 
 Principal and Consulting Actuary 
 
JRB:dy 
enc. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 1 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix A.  Summary of Benefits under Current Plan before Proposed Changes 
 

The following description of retiree health benefits is intended to be only a brief summary and is not 
complete information.  
 
 
Eligibility 
 
Currently, employees may receive retiree health benefits if they retire from the County, are receiving 
a pension, and meet certain eligibility requirements as follows:   
 
General employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 30 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
Safety employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 20 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
Employees hired after December 31, 2006 and represented by the following bargaining groups 
(AFSCME, California Nurses Association, Deputy District Attorneys’ Association, Public Defenders 
Association, IFPTE, Western Council of Engineers, SEIU, PEU, Probation Peace Officers 
Association, and Unrepresented) also must have 15 years of County service.  
 
Employees hired on or after October 1, 2005, and represented by the Physicians’ and Dentists’ 
Organization also must have 15 years of County service. 
 
Health Benefits 
 
Currently, eligible retirees and their dependents are covered either under the Contra Costa Health 
Plans, Health Net plans, Kaiser plans, or health plans sponsored by CalPERS (PEMHCA).  
Coverage may be provided for a retiree and surviving spouse as long as retiree and surviving 
spouse monthly premium contributions are paid.  The County may pay a subsidy toward eligible 
retirees’ monthly medical and dental premiums.  This subsidy may vary by bargaining unit and date 
of hire as described in this appendix.  Employees hired on or after dates described in the table 
below and represented by the following bargaining groups must pay the entire cost of premiums to 
maintain coverage.  

Bargaining Unit Name 
Hire Date on or after which eligible retirees 

must pay entire cost of premiums 
IFPTE, Unrepresented January 1, 2009 
AFSCME, Western Council of Engineers, SEIU, and PEU January 1, 2010 
Deputy District Attorneys Association December 14, 2010 
Probation Peace Officers Association of CCC January 1, 2011 
CCC Public Defenders Association March 1, 2011 
  
 
All surviving spouses must pay the entire cost of premiums to maintain coverage, with the exception 
of the following bargaining groups for whom the surviving spouse receives the same County subsidy 
as the retiree (covered by CalPERS health plans): A8 (Sheriff). BD (Fire Chief), BS (Sworn Exec. 
Mgmt.), HA, V#, VH, VN, 4N, BF, and XJ. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 2 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Bargaining Units V#, VH, VN, F8 and FW  
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the bargaining units listed in the table below, the County will 
contribute toward the cost of monthly premiums (medical and dental) in 2014 an amount equal to 
the actual dollar monthly premium amount paid by the County as of November 30, 2013, at each 
coverage level, plus 50% of the actual premium increase for 2014.  For premium increases in 2015 
and later, the County and retiree will split the increase evenly: the County will pay for 50% of the 
increase, and the retiree must pay for the other 50% of the increase.   
 
Retirees who elected dental coverage without health coverage will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for 2013, plus 50% of the actual premium increase for 2014.  For premium increases in 2015 and 
later, the County and retiree will split the increase evenly: the County will pay for 50% of the 
increase, and the retiree must pay for the other 50% of the increase. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General /  
Safety 

F8 
Unrep Classified & Exempt-Othr   
        General 

FW 
Unrep Cl & Ex-Sworn Peace Offc  
         Safety 

V# Sheriff's Sworn Mgmt Unit Safety 
VH Deputy Sheriff's Unit-Sworn Safety 
VN Deputy Sheriff's Unit-NonSworn General 

   
 
For employees hired between January 2, 2007, and September 30, 2011, and represented by the 
Deputy Sheriffs’ Association, the County subsidy is subject to a vesting schedule as shown in the 
table below.  
 

Credited Years of 
Service 

Percentage of Employer 
Contribution 

10 50 
11 55 
12 60 
13 65 
14 70 
15 75 
16 80 
17 85 
18 90 
19 95 

20 or more 100 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 3 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Bargaining Unit HA – Fire Management 
 
Currently, for eligible Fire Management retirees represented by United Chief Officers Association 
(UCOA) with bargaining unit code HA, the County will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the 
CalPERS Kaiser premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, employee + two 
or more) for the region in which the retiree resides, but the County’s subsidy will not exceed the total 
premium of a lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage.   
 
Bargaining Unit XJ – D.A. Investigators 
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the bargaining unit XJ, the County will pay a subsidy toward the 
cost of monthly premiums (medical and dental) in 2014 an amount equal to the actual dollar monthly 
premium amount paid by the County in 2013, depending on coverage level.  For 2014 and later, the 
County subsidy will increase by 75% of the actual premium increase in Bay Area Kaiser rates.  
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize an amount equal to 
78% of the monthly dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage. 
 
 
Bargaining Units 1P, 1R, 4N, and L3 
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the following bargaining units, the County subsidizes a 
percentage of monthly premiums that varies depending on the medical and dental plan elected.  
Retirees from certain bargaining units described below also receive reimbursement of their 
Medicare Part B premiums as long as the total County subsidy does not exceed 100% of the 
medical plan premium. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General /  
Safety 

Part B  
Reimbursement 

1P Physicians and Dentists Unit  General Yes, stops in 2015 
1R Physicians & Dentists Unit-Residents  General Yes, stops in 2015 
4N Fire Suppression & Prevention Unit  Safety No 

L3 Registered Nurses Unit General 
If retired on or before 

6/30/2012 and age 65 on 
or before 10/31/2012 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 4 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirees from the above listed units receive the following County subsidy based on the medical plan 
elected: 
 

Medical Plan Bargaining Unit 
County Subsidy 

% (Medical) 
County Subsidy 

% (Dental) 
Contra Costa Health Plan A and B    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 98% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 98% 
    
Kaiser, Health Net HMO    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 78% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 78% 
    
Health Net PPO    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 78% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 78% 
    
All Medical Plans    
Without Dental 4N 87% of Kaiser 0% 
With Dental Plan 4N 87% of Kaiser 78% 
    
Dental Only All Units Listed Above 0% All but $0.01 / 

month 
∗ Approximately 55% for 2014.  Future increases are split evenly between the County and the retiree. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 5 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

All other Bargaining Units - County Subsidy Frozen at the 2011 Level 
 
Currently, eligible retirees from the following bargaining units listed receive County subsidies at the 
same amount agreed upon between the County and the Bargaining Units in 2011 towards the 
medical and dental premiums with no future increases to this subsidy amount. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

 Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

1X Phys & Dnts & Optometrist Unit  General  JF CCC Defenders/Investigators General 
2I*  General  K2 Property Appraisers Unit General 
25 Social Services Unit General  K5 Court Professional Svcs Unit General 
51 Professional Engineers Unit General  K6 Supervisory Clerical Unit General 
99 DEFAULT BARGAINING UNIT General  KK Income Maintence Program Unit General 
2D Community Aide Unit General  KL Engineering Technician Unit General 
2I Service Line Supervisors Unit General  KM Sheriff's Non-Sworn Mgmt Unit General 
2R Superior Court Reporters-Ex General  KU Probation Supervisors Unit Safety 
3A Superior Court Clerical Unit General  KZ Social Svcs Staff Special Unit General 
3B Superior Court Barg Unit-Loc1 General  MA District Attorneys' Unit General 
3G Deputy Clerks Unit General  N2 Property Appraisers Unit General 
3R General Clerical Unit   General  PP Probation Unit of CCC Safety 
A8 Elected Department Heads General  QA Agriculture & Animal Ctrl Unit General 
AJ Elected Superior Court Judges General  QB LVN/Aide Unit General 
AM Elected Municipal Court Judges General  QC Fam/Chld Svs Site Supv Unit General 
AS Elected Board of Supvs Members General  QE Building Trades Unit General 
B8 Mgmt Classes-Classified & Exem General  QF Deputy Public Defender Unit/At General 
BA  General  QG Deputy Public Defender Unit-In General 
BC Superior Court Exempt Mgmt Gen General  QH Family and Children Services General 
BD Mgmt Classified & Ex Dept Head General  QM Engineering Unit General 
BF Fire District (MS) Safety Mgmt Safety  QP  General 
BH Superior Ct Exempt Mgmt-DH General  QS General Services & Mtce Unit General 
BJ Sup Ct Judicial Ofcrs Ex-Mgmt General  QT Health Services Unit General 
BS Sheriff's Sworn Executive Mgmt Safety  QV Investigative Unit General 
C8 Management Project-Other General  QW Legal & Court Clerk Unit General 
CH CS Head Start Mgmt-Project General  QX Library Unit General 
D8 Unrepresented Proj Class-Other General  QY Probation Unit General 
F8 Unrep Classified & Exempt-Other General  S2                                          General 
FC Unrep Superior Ct Clerical Exempt General  Z1 Supervisory Project General 
FD Unrep Superior Ct Other Exempt General  Z2 Non-Supervisory Project General 
FM Unrep Muni Ct Reporter-Exempt General  ZA Supervisory Management General 
FR Unrep Superior Ct Reptrs-Exempt General  ZB Non-Supervisory Management General 
FS Unrep Cl & Ex Student Workers General  ZL Supervisory Nurse General 
FX Unrep Exempt Medical Staff General  ZN Non-Supervisory Nurse General 
JD CCC Defenders/Attorneys General     

∗ Coded as “21” in census data. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 6 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Health Insurance Premium Rates (non-PEMHCA) 
The following table shows monthly retiree health insurance premiums for the 2014 calendar year for 
coverage under various health plans sponsored by Contra Costa County, and the County’s 
subsidies as frozen at the 2011 level for the specified bargaining groups.   
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2014  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2014 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2014 
Contra Costa Health Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan  $ 509.92  $ 612.77  $ 509.92  $ 102.85 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,214.90 1,459.96 1,214.90 245.06 

Retiree on Medicare Coordination of Benefits (COB) Plan 420.27 279.23 279.22 0.01 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,035.60 1,228.77 1,035.60 193.17 

     

Contra Costa Health Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 528.50 679.27 528.50 150.77 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,255.79 1,614.06 1,255.79 358.27 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 444.63 287.60 287.59 0.01 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,088.06 1,265.63 1,088.06 177.57 
     
Kaiser Permanente – Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan 478.91 768.47 478.91 289.56 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,115.84 1,790.52 1,115.84 674.68 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 263.94 295.01 263.94 31.07 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 712.79 796.71 712.79 83.92 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,161.65 1,298.41 1,161.65 136.76 
     
Kaiser Permanente – Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 478.91 676.03 478.91 197.12 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,115.84 1,575.17 1,115.84 459.33 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 263.94 223.69 223.68 0.01 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 712.79 603.97 603.96 0.01 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,161.65 984.25 984.24 0.01 
     
Health Net HMO – Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan 627.79 1,067.40 627.79 439.61 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,540.02 2,618.43 1,540.02 1,078.41 
Retiree on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 409.69 514.28 409.69 104.59 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 819.38 1,028.56 819.38 209.18 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 1,229.07 1,542.84 1,229.07 313.77 
     
Health Net HMO – Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 627.79 836.04 627.79 208.25 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,540.02 2,050.86 1,540.02 510.84 
Retiree on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 409.69 431.74 409.69 22.05 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 819.38 863.48 819.38 44.10 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 1,229.07 1,295.22 1,229.07 66.15 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 7 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Health Insurance Premium Rates (continued) 
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2014  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2014 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2014 
Health Net Medicare COB     

Retiree only  $ 467.13  $ 573.03  $ 467.13  $ 105.90 

Retiree & spouse 934.29 1,146.06 934.29 211.77 
     

Health Net CA & Nat’l PPO – Basic Plan A     

Retiree on PPO 604.60 1,365.43 604.60 760.83 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Basic Plan 1,436.25 3,243.69 1,436.25 1,807.44 

Retiree on PPO Medicare Plan with Medicare Part A & B 563.17 924.22 563.17 361.05 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Medicare Plan with 
Medicare Part A & B 1,126.24 1,848.43 1,126.24 722.19 

     

Health Net CA & Nat’l PPO – Basic Plan B     

Retiree on PPO 604.60 1,240.08 604.60 635.48 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Basic Plan 1,436.25 2,945.89 1,436.25 1,509.64 

Retiree on PPO Medicare Plan with Medicare Part A & B 563.17 839.40 563.17 276.23 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Medicare Plan with 
Medicare Part A & B 1,126.24 1,678.80 1,126.24 552.5 

 
The following table shows monthly retiree health insurance premiums for the 2015 calendar year for 
health coverage under Contra Costa Health Plans sponsored by the Contra Costa County. 
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2015  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2015 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2015 
Contra Costa Health Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan  $ 509.92  $ 654.44  $ 509.92  $ 144.52 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,214.90 1,559.24 1,214.90 344.34 

Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 420.27 301.01 301.00 0.01 

Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 1,035.60 602.02 602.01 0.01 

Family, 1 on Medicare COB Plan, and 1 or more on Basic Plan 1,035.60 963.23 963.22 0.01 

     

Contra Costa Health Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 528.50 725.46 528.50 196.75 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,255.79 1,723.82 1,255.79 468.03 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 444.63 310.03 310.02 0.01 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 1,088.06 620.06 620.05 0.01 
Family, 1 on Medicare COB Plan, and 1 or more on Basic Plan 1,088.06 992.10 992.09 0.01 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 8 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

PEMHCA Health Plan Premium Rates 
 
Eligible retirees from the bargaining units 4N, A8, B8, BD, BF, BS, F8, FW, HA, V#, VH, VN, and XJ 
can choose to enroll in health plans sponsored by CalPERS based on their residence region (Bay 
Area, Sacramento, Los Angeles, Northern California, Southern California and Out of State of 
California).  The following table shows the monthly Bay Area retiree health insurance premiums for 
the 2014 calendar year: 
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – 2014 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
       
Blue Shield  $ 836.59   $ 298.21   $ 1,673.18   $ 596.42   $ 2,175.13   $ 894.63  
Blue Shield NetValue 704.01  298.21  1,408.02  596.42  1,830.43  894.63  
Kaiser  742.72  294.97  1,485.44  589.94  1,931.07  884.91  
PERSCare 720.04  327.36  1,440.08  654.72  1,872.10  982.08  
PERS Choice 690.77  307.23  1,381.54  614.46  1,796.00  921.69  
PERS Select 661.52  307.23  1,323.04  614.46  1,719.95  921.69  
Anthem HMO Select 657.33  341.12  1,314.66  682.24  1,709.06  1,023.36  
Anthem HMO Traditional 728.41  341.12  1,456.82  682.24  1,893.87  1,023.36  
United Healthcare 764.24  193.33  1,528.48  386.66  1,987.02  579.99  
PORAC 634.00 397.00 1,186.00 791.00 1,507.00 1,264.00 
CCHP  723.74 618.84 1,281.39 1,071.59 1,674.11 1,359.41 
 
Dental Plan Premiums 
 
The following table shows monthly retiree dental insurance premiums for the 2014 calendar year.  
County subsidies vary based on retiree’s medical plan enrollment election and bargaining unit upon 
retirement.   

Plan Monthly Premiums 
  

Delta Dental - $1,800 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 44.27 
Family 100.00 
  
Delta Dental - $1,600 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 42.45 
Family 95.63 
  
Delta Care (PMI)  
Retiree $ 29.06 
Family 62.81 

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 9 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Excluded Bargaining Units – Not Eligible for Plan Participation 
 
Members of the following bargaining units are not eligible for participation in the County’s retiree 
health plan.  
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

 

8I IHSS Public Authority-Mgmt General  
8J IHSS Public Authority-Non Mgmt General  
8P Special Co Class Codes-Payroll General  
B9 Mgmt East CCFPD (Non-MS) Safety  

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 10 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix B.  Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 
 

The actuarial cost method used for determining the benefit obligations is the Projected Unit Credit 
Cost Method.  Under this method, the actuarial present value of projected benefits is the value of 
benefits expected to be paid for current actives and eligible retirees and is calculated based on the 
assumptions and census data described in this report.   
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee 
service rendered prior to the valuation date.  The AAL equals the present value of benefits multiplied 
by a fraction equal to service to date over service at expected retirement.  The Normal Cost is the 
actuarial present value of benefits attributed to one year of service.  This equals the present value of 
benefits divided by service at expected retirement.  Since retirees are not accruing any more 
service, their normal cost is zero.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the market value of 
assets as of the valuation date.   
 
In determining the Annual Required Contribution, the Unfunded AAL is amortized as a level dollar 
amount over 30 years on a “closed” basis.  There are 24 years remaining in the amortization period 
as of January 1, 2014.  The actuarial assumptions are summarized below. 
 
Economic Assumptions 
 
Discount Rate (Liabilities) 5.70%  
 
We have used a discount rate of 5.70% in this valuation to reflect the County’s current policy of 
partially funding its OPEB liabilities.  This rate is derived based on the fund’s investment policy, level 
of partial funding, and includes a 2.50% long-term inflation assumption.  County OPEB Irrevocable 
Trust assets are invested in the Public Agency Retirement Services’ Highmark Portfolio.  Based on 
the portfolio’s target allocation (shown below), the average return of Trust assets over the next 30 
years is expected to be 6.25%, which would be an appropriate discount rate if the County’s annual 
contribution is equal to the ARC.  If the County were to elect not to fund any amount to a Trust, the 
discount rate would be based on the expected return of the County’s general fund (we have 
assumed a long term return of 3.50% for the County’s general fund).  Since the County is partially 
funding the Trust with a contribution of $20 million per year, we used a blended discount rate of 
5.70%. 

Asset Class 
Expected 1-Year 
Nominal Return 

Targeted Asset 
Allocation 

Domestic Equity Large Cap 8.14% 17.0% 
Domestic Equity Mid Cap 8.92% 6.0% 
Domestic Equity Small Cap 9.90% 8.0% 
U.S. Fixed Income 4.69% 38.0% 
International / Global Equity (Developed) 8.56% 16.0% 
Real Estate 8.12% 4.0% 
Cash 3.01% 1.0% 
Alternatives 5.71% 10.0% 
   
Expected Geometric Median Annual Return (30 years)  6.25% 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 11 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

 
Demographic Assumptions 
Below is a summary of the assumed rates for mortality, retirement, disability and withdrawal, which are 
consistent with assumptions used in the December 31, 2012 CCCERA Actuarial Valuation. 
 
Pre / Post Retirement Mortality 
Healthy: For General Members: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 

with Scale AA, set back one year. 
 For Safety Member: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with 

Scale AA, set back two years. 

Disabled: For General Members: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 
with Scale AA, set forward six years for males and set forward seven years for 
females. 

 For Safety Member: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with 
Scale AA, set forward three years. 

Beneficiaries: Beneficiaries are assumed to have the same mortality as a General Member of the 
opposite sex who had taken a service (non-disability) retirement. 

 

Disability 
Age General Tier 3 Safety (All Tiers) 
20 0.01% 0.02% 
25 0.02% 0.22% 
30 0.03% 0.42% 
35 0.05% 0.56% 
40 0.08% 0.66% 
45 0.13% 0.94% 
50 0.17% 2.54% 

 
 
Withdrawal – Sample probabilities of terminating employment with the County are shown below for 
selected years of County service. 
 

Years of Service General Safety 
Less than 1 13.50% 11.50% 

1 9.00% 6.50% 
2 9.00% 5.00% 
3 6.00% 4.00% 
4 4.50% 3.50% 
5 4.00% 3.00% 

10 2.75% 1.90% 
15 2.10% 1.40% 

20 or more 2.00% 1.00% 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 12 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirement – For this valuation, we have applied the Tier 3 rates for all General employees and Tier 
A rates for all Safety employees since nearly all current employees are in these two pension tiers. 
 

Age 
General 
Tier 3 

Safety 
Tier A 

 
Age 

General 
Tier 3 

Safety 
Tier A 

45 0% 2%  60 15% 40% 
46 0% 2%  61 20% 40% 
47 0% 7%  62 27% 40% 
48 0% 7%  63 27% 40% 
49 0% 20%  64 30% 40% 
50 4% 25%  65 40% 100% 
51 3% 25%  66 40% 100% 
52 3% 25%  67 40% 100% 
53 5% 25%  68 40% 100% 
54 5% 25%  69 40% 100% 
55 10% 30%  70 40% 100% 
56 10% 25%  72 40% 100% 
57 10% 25%  73 40% 100% 
58 12% 35%  74 40% 100% 
59 12% 35%  75 100% 100% 

Coverage Election Assumptions 

Retiree Coverage – We have assumed 90% of new retirees will elect medical and dental coverage at 
retirement.  For new retirees who were members of certain bargaining units indicated in appendix A 
and hired after a certain date indicated (eligible retirees must pay entire cost of premium to maintain 
coverage), we have assumed 50% will elect medical and dental coverage at retirement. 

Spouse Coverage – We have assumed 50% of new retirees electing coverage will elect spouse 
medical and dental coverage at retirement.   

Spouse Age – Female spouses are assumed to be three years younger than male spouses. 

Dependent Coverage – We have assumed 30% of retirees with no spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65, and 50% of retirees with spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65. 

Health Plan Election – We have assumed that new retirees will remain enrolled in the same plan they 
were enrolled in as actives.  For actives who waived coverage, we have assumed that they will elect 
Kaiser plan coverage. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 13 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Valuation of Retiree Premium Subsidy Due to Active Health Costs 
 
The County and California PERS (PEMHCA) health plans charge the same premiums for retirees 
who are not yet eligible for Medicare as for active employees.  Therefore, the retiree premium rates 
are being subsidized by the inclusion of active lives in setting rates.  (Premiums calculated only 
based on retiree health claims experience would have resulted in higher retiree premiums.)  GASB 
45 requires that the value of this subsidy be recognized as a liability in valuations of OPEB costs.  
To account for the fact that per member health costs vary depending on age (higher health costs at 
older ages), we calculated equivalent per member per month (PMPM) costs that vary by age based 
on the age distribution of covered members, and based on relative cost factors by age.  The relative 
cost factors were developed from the Milliman Health Cost GuidelinesTM.  Based on the carrier 
premium rates and relative age cost factors assumptions, we developed age adjusted monthly 
PMPM health costs for 2014 to be used in valuing the implicit rate subsidy.  The following tables 
show the age adjusted expected monthly claims cost for a male participant at age 64 for each health 
plan and relative age factors compared to a male age 64.   
 

Plan 
Monthly Age Adjusted Claims 

Cost for Age 64 Male 
Dependent Child Cost 

Load  
CCHP A  $ 1,164  $ 157 
CCHP B 1,431 329 
Kaiser A 1,384 246 
Kaiser B 1,278 264 
Health Net HMO A 1,878 394 
Health Net HMO B 1,621 369 
Health Net PPO  1,903 316 
California PERS Plans (average) 1,100 219 

 
Relative Claims Cost Factor Compared to Male age 64 

Age Male Female 
50 0.458 0.572 
55 0.604 0.668 
60 0.786 0.789 
64 1.000 0.915 

 

Since retirees eligible for Medicare (age 65 and beyond) are enrolled in Medicare supplemental plans, 
the premiums for retirees with Medicare are determined without regard to active employee claims 
experience and no such subsidy exists for this group for medical cost.   
 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 14 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Medical Cost Inflation Assumption 
 
We assumed future increases to the health costs and premiums are based on the “Getzen” model 
published by the Society of Actuaries for purposes of evaluating long term medical trend.  Under the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, a Federal excise tax will apply for high cost 
health plans beginning in 2018.  A margin to reflect the impact of the excise tax in future years is 
reflected in the assumed trend.  The following table shows the assumed rate increases in future 
years for Medical premiums.  
 

Calendar County Plans * Calendar PEMHCA Plans Calendar All Plans * 
Year Pre 65 Year Pre 65 Year Post 65 

2014 6.50% 2014 7.00% 2014 7.25% 
2015 5.25% 2015 5.75% 2015 6.00% 
2016 5.75% 2016 6.25% 2016 6.50% 
2017 6.50% 2017 – 2018 6.75% 2017 – 2025 6.00% 
2018 – 2020 5.75% 2019 7.00% 2026 – 2032 5.75% 
2021 – 2023 6.50% 2020 – 2022 7.25% 2033  6.00% 
2024 – 2028 6.25% 2023 – 2024 7.00% 2034  6.75% 
2029 6.50% 2025 – 2029 6.75% 2035 6.50% 
2030 – 2035 6.25% 2030 – 2033 6.50% 2036 – 2042 6.25% 
2036  6.00% 2034 – 2036 6.25% 2043 – 2045 6.00% 
2037 – 2040 5.75% 2037 – 2038 6.00% 2046 – 2051 5.75% 
2041 – 2048 5.50% 2039 – 2043 5.75% 2052 – 2059 5.50% 
2049 – 2063 5.25% 2044 – 2050 5.50% 2060 – 2070 5.25% 
2064 – 2074 5.00% 2051 – 2061 5.25% 2071 – 2076 5.00% 
2075 – 2079 4.75% 2062 – 2074 5.00% 2077 – 2081 4.75% 
2080 + 4.50% 2075 – 2079 4.75% 2082 + 4.50% 

  2080 + 4.50%   
      
* For Contra Costa Health Plan A and B, actual increase from calendar year 2014 to 2015 was 

used. 
 
Dental Cost  We assumed Dental costs will increase 4.0% annually.



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 15 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix C.  Summary of Participant Data 
The following census of participants was used in the actuarial valuation and provided by Contra Costa 
County.   
 
Active Employees 

Age General Safety Total 
Under 25 44 10 54 
25 – 29 377 124 501 
30 – 34 732 168 900 
35 – 39 838 203 1,041 
40 – 44 883 236 1,119 
45 – 49 1,043 226 1,269 
50 – 54 1,148 85 1,233 
55 – 59 997 34 1,031 
60 – 64 663 17 680 

65 & Over 257 4 261 
Total 6,982 1,107 8,089 

Average Age at Hire: 45.93 
Average Age on Valuation Date: 10.31 

 
Current Retirees 

Age General Safety Total 
Under 50 22 69 91 
50 – 54 104 146 250 
55 – 59 390 163 553 
60 – 64 821 211 1,032 
65 – 69 1,155 255 1,410 
70 – 74 869 125 994 
75 – 79 619 86 705 
80 – 84 444 72 516 

85 & Over 595 60 655 
Total 5,019 1,187 6,206 

Average Age on Valuation Date:  69.92 
 
 

 
 



 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

650 California Street, 17th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94108-2702 
USA 

Tel +1 415 403 1333 
Fax +1 415 403 1334 

milliman.com 

 

 November 10, 2015 
Ms. Lisa Driscoll 
County Finance Director 
County Administrator’s Office 
651 Pine Street, 10th Floor 
Martinez, CA  94553 
 
Contra Costa County Retiree Health Plan 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association 
(UCOA) for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 
 
Dear Ms. Driscoll: 
 
As requested, we have estimated the cost impact of a proposed change to retiree health benefits for 
the United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA).  The proposed benefit change would apply to all 
UCOA employees and retirees for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (“District”).  The 
purpose of this analysis is to estimate the change in the County’s long-term other postemployment 
liability under GASB 45 (comparison of the present value of benefits, actuarial accrued liability, 
normal cost, annual required contribution, and projected benefit payments is shown before and after 
the proposed change) to comply with California Government Code Section 7507.  
 
Current Plan 

Currently, for eligible Fire Management retirees represented by United Chief Officers Association 
(UCOA) with bargaining unit code HA, the District will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay Area premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, 
employee + two or more) for any region in which the retiree resides, but the District’s subsidy will not 
exceed the total premium of a lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the District will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the District will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage. 
 
Proposed Plan 

District Premium Subsidy on or after December 1, 2016:  For the plan year that begins on January 1, 
2017 and each calendar year thereafter, the maximum monthly premium subsidy the District will pay 
for each health plan is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District 
for that plan as of November 30, 2016.  In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium 
charged by a health plan for 2017, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of 
that increase. For each plan year thereafter, and for each plan, the District and the employee will 
each pay fifty (50%) of the monthly premium increase above the 2016 plan premiums.  



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 2 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

For eligible retirees from bargaining unit HA enrolled in both a medical and dental plan, for the plan 
year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each dental 
plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District as of 
November 30, 2015. In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a dental 
plan for 2016, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For 
each plan year thereafter, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the 
monthly premium increase above the 2015 plan premium.   
 
For eligible retirees from bargaining unit HA enrolled in a dental plan only without health coverage,  
beginning on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly dental premium subsidy for each dental 
plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District for 2015. If 
there is an increase in the premium charged by a dental plan for 2016, the District and the employee 
will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the increase. For each plan year thereafter, the District and the 
employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium increase that is above the 2015 plan 
premium.  
 
Results 

The results are estimated as of January 1, 2016.  The estimated costs are based on valuation 
results as of January 1, 2014, projected to January 1, 2016, and reflect actual health premiums for 
2016.  Only the liabilities for active and retired UCOA members are shown in the comparison below. 
 

 Current Plan Proposal Plan  
 Est. at 1/1/2016 Est. at 1/1/2016 Difference 

Present Value of Benefits     
Active Employees $2,102,000 $1,714,000 ($388,000) 
Retirees $5,840,000 $5,012,000 ($828,000) 
Total $7,942,000 $6,726,000 ($1,216,000) 
    
Actuarial Accrued Liability     
Active Employees $1,605,000 $1,320,000 ($285,000) 
Retirees $5,840,000 $5,012,000 ($828,000) 
Total $7,445,000 $6,332,000 ($1,113,000) 

    
Normal Cost Est. at June 30, 2016  $70,000 $57,000 ($13,000) 
    
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) Est. at 6/30/16 $642,000 $541,000 ($101,000) 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 3 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

The items shown in the table above are defined as follows: 
 
The Present Value of Benefits is the present value of projected benefits (projected claims less 
retiree contributions) discounted at the valuation interest rate (5.70%). 
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the present value of benefits that are attributed to past 
service only.  The portion attributed to future employee service is excluded.  For retirees, this is 
equal to the present value of benefits. For active employees, this is equal to the present value of 
benefits prorated by service to date over service at the expected retirement age. 
 
The Normal Cost is that portion of the District provided benefit attributable to employee service in 
the current year.  Employees are assumed to have an equal portion of the present value of benefits 
attributed to each year of service from date of hire to expected retirement age. 
 
The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) is equal to the Normal Cost plus an amount to amortize 
the unfunded AAL as a level dollar amount over a period of 30 years on a “closed” basis starting 
January 1, 2008.  There are 22 years remaining as of January 1, 2016.   
 
The table below contains a 20 year projection of projected benefit payments under the current and 
proposed benefit plans for UCOA members.  The projected benefit payments are net of required 
retiree contributions, but include the value of the implicit premium rate subsidy for non-Medicare 
retirees for whom the same premium rate is charged as for actives.  The estimated projected benefit 
payments are based on employees and retirees as of the valuation date.  Future employees are not 
reflected in the table below.   
 

Calendar Projected Benefit Payments 
Year Current Plan  Proposed Plan Difference 
2016 $  356,000 $  356,000 0 
2017 389,000 382,000 (7,000) 
2018 378,000 366,000 (12,000) 
2019 415,000 396,000 (19,000) 
2020 436,000 409,000 (27,000) 
2021 467,000 432,000 (35,000) 
2022 490,000 448,000 (42,000) 
2023 500,000 450,000 (50,000) 
2024 534,000 474,000 (60,000) 
2025 563,000 495,000 (68,000) 
2026 563,000 488,000 (75,000) 
2027 590,000 507,000 (83,000) 
2028 557,000 473,000 (84,000) 
2029 551,000 463,000 (88,000) 
2030 564,000 469,000 (95,000) 
2031 529,000 433,000 (96,000) 
2032 569,000 464,000 (105,000) 
2033 540,000 435,000 (105,000) 
2034 549,000 437,000 (112,000) 
2035 508,000 396,000 (112,000) 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 4 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Important Notes 

Except where noted above, the results in this letter are based on the same data, methods, 
assumptions, and plan provisions that are used in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation report for 
the Contra Costa County (“County”), dated August 8, 2014.  Appendices A through C contain a 
description of the current provisions assumptions and data used in the valuation report for UCOA 
employees and retirees.  
 
In preparing our report, we relied, without audit, on information (some oral and some in writing) 
supplied by Contra Costa County’s staff.  This information includes but not limited to employee census 
data, financial information and plan provisions.  While Milliman has not audited the financial and 
census data, they have been reviewed for reasonableness and are, in our opinion, sufficient and 
reliable for the purposes of our calculations.  If any of this information as summarized in this report is 
inaccurate or incomplete, the results shown could be materially affected and this report may need to 
be revised.  
 
All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the County have been determined on the 
basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the 
experience of the County and reasonable expectations); and which, in combination, offer our best 
estimate of anticipated experience affecting the County.  Further, in our opinion, each actuarial 
assumption used is reasonably related to the experience of the Plan and to reasonable expectations 
which, in combination, represent our best estimate of anticipated experience for the County. 
 
This analysis is only an estimate of the Plan’s financial condition as of a single date.  It can neither 
predict the Plan’s future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness.  Actuarial valuations do 
not affect the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of County contributions.  While the 
valuation is based on an array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may 
also be reasonable and valuation results based on those assumptions would be different.  No one 
set of assumptions is uniquely correct. Determining results using alternative assumptions is outside 
the scope of our engagement. 
 
The estimates as of January 1, 2016, are based on actual health plan premiums for 2016, but are 
based on census data and assumptions specified in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation.  The 
actual valuation results for UCOA as of January 1, 2016, will differ based on changes in census data 
form 2014 and assumptions that will be established for the 2016 actuarial valuation.  Furthermore, 
future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in 
this report due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the 
economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; 
increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these 
measurements (such as the end of an amortization period); and changes in plan provisions or 
applicable law. Due to the limited scope of our assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the 
potential range of future measurements. The County has the final decision regarding the 
appropriateness of the assumptions and actuarial cost methods. 
 
This letter is prepared solely for the internal business use of Contra Costa County.  To the extent 
that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s 
work may not be provided to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent.  Milliman does not 
intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party recipient of its work product.  Milliman’s 
consent to release its work product to any third party may be conditioned on the third party signing a 
Release, subject to the following exceptions: 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 5 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

 

 
a) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the County's 

professional service advisors who are subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to 
not use Milliman’s work for any purpose other than to benefit the County.  

 
b) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to other 

governmental entities, as required by law.  
 
No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such 
recipients should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 
 
The consultants who worked on this assignment are actuaries.  Milliman’s advice is not intended to be 
a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel.  
 
The signing actuary is independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any relationship that 
would impair the objectivity of our work. 
 
On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the report 
is complete and accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 
accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the applicable Actuarial 
Standards of Practice of the American Academy of Actuaries.  The undersigned is a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of 
Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.  
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 John R. Botsford, FSA, MAAA 
 Principal and Consulting Actuary 
 
JRB:dy 
enc. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 1 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix A.  Summary of Benefits under Current Plan before Proposed Changes 
 

The following description of retiree health benefits is intended to be only a brief summary and is not 
complete information.  
 
 
Eligibility 
 
Currently, employees may receive retiree health benefits if they retire from the County, are receiving 
a pension, and meet certain eligibility requirements as follows:   
 
Safety employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 20 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
 
Health Benefits 
 
Currently, eligible retirees and their dependents are covered under the health plans sponsored by 
CalPERS (PEMHCA).  The County will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the CalPERS Kaiser 
premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, employee + two or more) for the 
region in which the retiree resides, but the County’s subsidy will not exceed the total premium of a 
lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage.   
 
All surviving spouses receive the same County subsidy as the retiree. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 2 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

PEMHCA Health Plan Premium Rates 
 
Eligible retirees can choose to enroll in health plans sponsored by CalPERS based on their 
residence region (Bay Area, Sacramento, Los Angeles, Northern California, Southern California and 
Out of State of California).  The following table shows the monthly Bay Area retiree health insurance 
premiums for the 2015 and 2016 calendar years: 
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – Effective January 1, 2015 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
Anthem HMO Select  $ 662.41   $ 445.38   $ 1,324.82   $ 890.76   $ 1,722.27   $ 1,336.14  
Anthem HMO Traditional 827.57  445.38  1,655.14  890.76  2,151.68  1,336.14  
Blue Shield 928.87  352.63  1,857.74  705.26  2,415.06  1,057.89  
Blue Shield NetValue  870.60  352.63  1,741.20  705.26  2,263.56  1,057.89  
Kaiser  714.45  295.51  1,428.90  591.02  1,857.57  886.53  
PERS Choice 700.84  339.47  1,401.68  678.94  1,822.18  1,018.41  
PERS Select 690.43  339.47  1,380.86  678.94  1,795.12  1,018.41  
PERSCare 775.08  368.76  1,550.16  737.52  2,015.21  1,106.28  
United Healthcare 850.67  267.41  1,701.34  534.82  2,211.74  802.23  
CCHP 772.95 660.92 1,545.91 1,321.84 2,009.68 1,982.76 

 
Effective January 1, 2016, CalPERS will no longer offer Medicare Advantage plans offered by 
Anthem and Blue Shield and will add a Health Net option for non-Medicare retirees only.  
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – Effective January 1, 2016 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
Anthem HMO Select  $ 721.79    N/A   $ 1,443.58    N/A   $ 1,876.65    N/A  
Anthem HMO Traditional 855.42   N/A  1,710.84  N/A  2,224.09  N/A  
Blue Shield 1,016.18   N/A 2,032.36  N/A 2,642.07  N/A 
Blue Shield NetValue  1,033.86  N/A 2,067.72  N/A 2,688.04  N/A 
HealthNet SmartCare 808.44  N/A 1,616.88  N/A 2,101.94  N/A 
Kaiser  746.47 297.23 1,492.94 594.46 1,940.82 891.69 
PERS Choice 798.36 366.38 1,596.72 732.76 2,075.74 1099.14 
PERS Select 730.07 366.38 1,460.14 732.76 1,898.18 1099.14 
PERSCare 889.27 408.04 1,778.54 816.08 2,312.10 1224.12 
United Healthcare 955.44 320.98 1,910.88 641.96 2,484.14 962.94 
CCHP * N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

* Not available for 2016, as of January 1, 2014 no UCOA employees and retirees were enrolled in this plan. 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 3 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Dental Plan Premiums 
 
The following table shows monthly retiree dental insurance premiums for the 2016 calendar year.  
County subsidies vary based on retiree’s medical plan enrollment election and bargaining unit upon 
retirement.   

Plan Monthly Premiums 
  

Delta Dental - $1,600 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 42.45 
Family 95.63 
  
Delta Care (PMI)  
Retiree $ 29.06 
Family 62.81 

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 4 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix B.  Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 
 

The actuarial cost method used for determining the benefit obligations is the Projected Unit Credit 
Cost Method.  Under this method, the actuarial present value of projected benefits is the value of 
benefits expected to be paid for current actives and eligible retirees and is calculated based on the 
assumptions and census data described in this report.   
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee 
service rendered prior to the valuation date.  The AAL equals the present value of benefits multiplied 
by a fraction equal to service to date over service at expected retirement.  The Normal Cost is the 
actuarial present value of benefits attributed to one year of service.  This equals the present value of 
benefits divided by service at expected retirement.  Since retirees are not accruing any more 
service, their normal cost is zero.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the market value of 
assets as of the valuation date.   
 
In determining the Annual Required Contribution, the Unfunded AAL is amortized as a level dollar 
amount over 30 years on a “closed” basis.  There are 22 years remaining in the amortization period 
as of January 1, 2016.  The actuarial assumptions are summarized below. 
 
Economic Assumptions 
 
Discount Rate (Liabilities) 5.70%  
 
We have used a discount rate of 5.70% in this valuation to reflect the County’s current policy of 
partially funding its OPEB liabilities.  This rate is derived based on the fund’s investment policy, level 
of partial funding, and includes a 2.50% long-term inflation assumption.  County OPEB Irrevocable 
Trust assets are invested in the Public Agency Retirement Services’ Highmark Portfolio.  Based on 
the portfolio’s target allocation (shown below), the average return of Trust assets over the next 30 
years is expected to be 6.25%, which would be an appropriate discount rate if the County’s annual 
contribution is equal to the ARC.  If the County were to elect not to fund any amount to a Trust, the 
discount rate would be based on the expected return of the County’s general fund (we have 
assumed a long term return of 3.50% for the County’s general fund).  Since the County is partially 
funding the Trust with a contribution of $20 million per year, we used a blended discount rate of 
5.70%. 

Asset Class 
Expected 1-Year 
Nominal Return 

Targeted Asset 
Allocation 

Domestic Equity Large Cap 8.14% 17.0% 
Domestic Equity Mid Cap 8.92% 6.0% 
Domestic Equity Small Cap 9.90% 8.0% 
U.S. Fixed Income 4.69% 38.0% 
International / Global Equity (Developed) 8.56% 16.0% 
Real Estate 8.12% 4.0% 
Cash 3.01% 1.0% 
Alternatives 5.71% 10.0% 
   
Expected Geometric Median Annual Return (30 years)  6.25% 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 5 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

 
Demographic Assumptions 
Below is a summary of the assumed rates for mortality, retirement, disability and withdrawal, which are 
consistent with assumptions used in the December 31, 2012 CCCERA Actuarial Valuation. 
 
Pre / Post Retirement Mortality 
Healthy: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set back 

two years. 

Disabled: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set 
forward three years. 

Beneficiaries: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set back 
one year. 

 

Disability 
Age UCOA 
20 0.02% 
25 0.22% 
30 0.42% 
35 0.56% 
40 0.66% 
45 0.94% 
50 2.54% 

 
 
Withdrawal – Sample probabilities of terminating employment with the County are shown below for 
selected years of County service. 
 

Years of Service UCOA 
Less than 1 11.50% 

1 6.50% 
2 5.00% 
3 4.00% 
4 3.50% 
5 3.00% 

10 1.90% 
15 1.40% 

20 or more 1.00% 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 6 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirement – For this report, we have applied the following retirement rates. 
 

Age UCOA  Age UCOA 
45 2%  60 40% 
46 2%  61 40% 
47 7%  62 40% 
48 7%  63 40% 
49 20%  64 40% 
50 25%  65 100% 
51 25%  66 100% 
52 25%  67 100% 
53 25%  68 100% 
54 25%  69 100% 
55 30%  70 100% 
56 25%  72 100% 
57 25%  73 100% 
58 35%  74 100% 
59 35%  75 100% 

Coverage Election Assumptions 

Retiree Coverage – We have assumed 90% of new retirees will elect medical and dental coverage at 
retirement.   

Spouse Coverage – We have assumed 50% of new retirees electing coverage will elect spouse 
medical and dental coverage at retirement.   

Spouse Age – Female spouses are assumed to be three years younger than male spouses. 

Dependent Coverage – We have assumed 30% of retirees with no spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65, and 50% of retirees with spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65. 

Health Plan Election – We have assumed that new retirees will remain enrolled in the same plan they 
were enrolled in as actives.  For actives who waived coverage, we have assumed that they will elect 
Kaiser plan coverage. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 7 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Valuation of Retiree Premium Subsidy Due to Active Health Costs 
 
The California PERS (PEMHCA) health plans charge the same premiums for retirees who are not 
yet eligible for Medicare as for active employees.  Therefore, the retiree premium rates are being 
subsidized by the inclusion of active lives in setting rates.  (Premiums calculated only based on 
retiree health claims experience would have resulted in higher retiree premiums.)  GASB 45 
requires that the value of this subsidy be recognized as a liability in valuations of OPEB costs.  To 
account for the fact that per member health costs vary depending on age (higher health costs at 
older ages), we calculated equivalent per member per month (PMPM) costs that vary by age based 
on the age distribution of covered members, and based on relative cost factors by age.  The relative 
cost factors were developed from the Milliman Health Cost GuidelinesTM.  Based on the carrier 
premium rates and relative age cost factors assumptions, we developed age adjusted monthly 
PMPM health costs for 2014 to be used in valuing the implicit rate subsidy.  The following tables 
show the age adjusted expected monthly claims cost for a male participant at age 64 for each health 
plan and relative age factors compared to a male age 64.   
 

Plan 
Monthly Age Adjusted Claims 

Cost for Age 64 Male 
Dependent Child Cost 

Load  
California PERS Plans (average)  $ 1,100  $ 219 

 
Relative Claims Cost Factor Compared to Male age 64 

Age Male Female 
50 0.458 0.572 
55 0.604 0.668 
60 0.786 0.789 
64 1.000 0.915 

 

Since retirees eligible for Medicare (age 65 and beyond) are enrolled in Medicare supplemental plans, 
the premiums for retirees with Medicare are determined without regard to active employee claims 
experience and no such subsidy exists for this group for medical cost.   
 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 8 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Medical Cost Inflation Assumption 
 
We assumed future increases to the health costs and premiums are based on the “Getzen” model 
published by the Society of Actuaries for purposes of evaluating long term medical trend.  Under the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, a Federal excise tax will apply for high cost 
health plans beginning in 2018.  A margin to reflect the impact of the excise tax in future years is 
reflected in the assumed trend.  The following table shows the assumed rate increases in future 
years for Medical premiums.   
 

 
 
 

Calendar Year Pre 65 Calendar Year Post 65 
2016 6.25% 2016 6.50% 
2017 – 2018 6.75% 2017 – 2025 6.00% 
2019 7.00% 2026 – 2032 5.75% 
2020 – 2022 7.25% 2033  6.00% 
2023 – 2024 7.00% 2034  6.75% 
2025 – 2029 6.75% 2035 6.50% 
2030 – 2033 6.50% 2036 – 2042 6.25% 
2034 – 2036 6.25% 2043 – 2045 6.00% 
2037 – 2038 6.00% 2046 – 2051 5.75% 
2039 – 2043 5.75% 2052 – 2059 5.50% 
2044 – 2050 5.50% 2060 – 2070 5.25% 
2051 – 2061 5.25% 2071 – 2076 5.00% 
2062 – 2074 5.00% 2077 – 2081 4.75% 
2075 – 2079 4.75% 2082 + 4.50% 
2080 + 4.50%   

    
 
Dental Cost  We assumed Dental costs will increase 4.0% annually.



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 9 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix C.  Summary of Participant Data 
The following census of participants was used in the actuarial valuation and provided by Contra Costa 
County.   
 
Active Employees 

Age UCOA 
Under 25 0 
25 – 29 0 
30 – 34 0 
35 – 39 1 
40 – 44 1 
45 – 49 6 
50 – 54 3 
55 – 59 1 
60 – 64 0 

65 & Over    0 
Total 12 

Average Age at Hire: 26.17 
Average Age on Valuation Date: 48.25 

 
Current Retirees 

Age UCOA 
Under 50 0 
50 – 54 5 
55 – 59 9 
60 – 64 7 
65 – 69 4 
70 – 74 0 
75 – 79 0 
80 – 84 0 

85 & Over 0 
Total 25 

Average Age on Valuation Date:  59.2 
 
 

 
 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACCEPT written acknowledgment by the County Administrator (Chief Executive Officer) that he understands the

current and future costs of the health benefit changes for members of the United Chief Officers' Association and

UPFF, Local 1230 and certain persons retired from classifications represented by the United Chief Officers'

Association and UPFF, Local 1230, as determined by the County’s actuary in the November 10, 2015 and January 9,

2015 Actuarial Reports (Attached). 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

As shown in the valuations, the result of the health plan changes described herein, if implemented, will create a $22.6

million or 2.85% decrease in the Actuarial Accrued Liability and a $2.5 million or 2.86% decrease in the calculated

Annual Required Contribution. 

BACKGROUND: 

At its meeting on November 17, the Board of Supervisors accepted actuarial valuations of future annual costs of

negotiated and proposed changes to Other Post Employment Benefits, as provided by the County Actuary in letters

dated November 10, 2015 and January 9, 2015. The Board of Supervisors was informed that Government Code,

Section 7507 requires with regard to local legislative boards, that the future costs of changes in retirement benefits or

other post employment benefits as determined by the actuary, shall be made public at a public meeting at least two

weeks prior to the adoption of any changes in public retirement plan benefits or other post employment benefits. The

November 10, 2015 and January 9, 2015 reports fulfilled that requirement. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Lisa Driscoll, County Finance

Director, 335-1023

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Ann Elliott, Employee Benefits Manager,   Jeff Carman, Chief CCCFPD,   Harjit S. Nahal, Assistant County Auditor   

D.6

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: David Twa, County Administrator

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Government Code 7507 - Chief Executive Acknowledgement of Future Costs of Benefits - United Chief Officers'

Association & UPFF, Local 1230



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

> 

Government Code, Section 7507 also requires that if the future costs (or savings) of the changes exceed one-half

of 1 percent of the future annual costs of the existing benefits for the body, an actuary shall be present to provide

information as needed at the public meeting at which the adoption of a benefit change shall be considered.

And finally, Section 7507 requires that upon the adoption of any benefit change to which the section applies, the

person with responsibilities of a chief executive officer in an entity providing the benefit, however that person is

denominated, shall acknowledge in writing that he or she understands the current and future cost of the benefit as

determined by the actuary. 

As the County Administrator (chief executive officer) and by approving this Board Order, I acknowledge in

writing that I understand the current and future cost of the benefit changes presented to you today, as determined

by the actuary and contained in the November 10, 2015 and January 9, 2015 letters from Milliman, Inc. (County's

actuary).

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Delayed implementation of health care rate revisions.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

ATTACHMENTS

7507 Report for UCOA dated November 10, 2015 

7507 Report for L1230 dated January 9, 2015 



 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

650 California Street, 17th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94108-2702 
USA 

Tel +1 415 403 1333 
Fax +1 415 403 1334 

milliman.com 

 

 November 10, 2015 
Ms. Lisa Driscoll 
County Finance Director 
County Administrator’s Office 
651 Pine Street, 10th Floor 
Martinez, CA  94553 
 
Contra Costa County Retiree Health Plan 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association 
(UCOA) for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 
 
Dear Ms. Driscoll: 
 
As requested, we have estimated the cost impact of a proposed change to retiree health benefits for 
the United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA).  The proposed benefit change would apply to all 
UCOA employees and retirees for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (“District”).  The 
purpose of this analysis is to estimate the change in the County’s long-term other postemployment 
liability under GASB 45 (comparison of the present value of benefits, actuarial accrued liability, 
normal cost, annual required contribution, and projected benefit payments is shown before and after 
the proposed change) to comply with California Government Code Section 7507.  
 
Current Plan 

Currently, for eligible Fire Management retirees represented by United Chief Officers Association 
(UCOA) with bargaining unit code HA, the District will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay Area premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, 
employee + two or more) for any region in which the retiree resides, but the District’s subsidy will not 
exceed the total premium of a lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the District will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the District will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage. 
 
Proposed Plan 

District Premium Subsidy on or after December 1, 2016:  For the plan year that begins on January 1, 
2017 and each calendar year thereafter, the maximum monthly premium subsidy the District will pay 
for each health plan is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District 
for that plan as of November 30, 2016.  In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium 
charged by a health plan for 2017, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of 
that increase. For each plan year thereafter, and for each plan, the District and the employee will 
each pay fifty (50%) of the monthly premium increase above the 2016 plan premiums.  



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 2 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

For eligible retirees from bargaining unit HA enrolled in both a medical and dental plan, for the plan 
year that begins on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly premium subsidy for each dental 
plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District as of 
November 30, 2015. In addition, if there is an increase in the monthly premium charged by a dental 
plan for 2016, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of that increase. For 
each plan year thereafter, the District and the employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the 
monthly premium increase above the 2015 plan premium.   
 
For eligible retirees from bargaining unit HA enrolled in a dental plan only without health coverage,  
beginning on January 1, 2016, the District will pay a monthly dental premium subsidy for each dental 
plan that is equal to the actual dollar monthly premium subsidy that is paid by the District for 2015. If 
there is an increase in the premium charged by a dental plan for 2016, the District and the employee 
will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the increase. For each plan year thereafter, the District and the 
employee will each pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium increase that is above the 2015 plan 
premium.  
 
Results 

The results are estimated as of January 1, 2016.  The estimated costs are based on valuation 
results as of January 1, 2014, projected to January 1, 2016, and reflect actual health premiums for 
2016.  Only the liabilities for active and retired UCOA members are shown in the comparison below. 
 

 Current Plan Proposal Plan  
 Est. at 1/1/2016 Est. at 1/1/2016 Difference 

Present Value of Benefits     
Active Employees $2,102,000 $1,714,000 ($388,000) 
Retirees $5,840,000 $5,012,000 ($828,000) 
Total $7,942,000 $6,726,000 ($1,216,000) 
    
Actuarial Accrued Liability     
Active Employees $1,605,000 $1,320,000 ($285,000) 
Retirees $5,840,000 $5,012,000 ($828,000) 
Total $7,445,000 $6,332,000 ($1,113,000) 

    
Normal Cost Est. at June 30, 2016  $70,000 $57,000 ($13,000) 
    
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) Est. at 6/30/16 $642,000 $541,000 ($101,000) 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 3 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

The items shown in the table above are defined as follows: 
 
The Present Value of Benefits is the present value of projected benefits (projected claims less 
retiree contributions) discounted at the valuation interest rate (5.70%). 
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the present value of benefits that are attributed to past 
service only.  The portion attributed to future employee service is excluded.  For retirees, this is 
equal to the present value of benefits. For active employees, this is equal to the present value of 
benefits prorated by service to date over service at the expected retirement age. 
 
The Normal Cost is that portion of the District provided benefit attributable to employee service in 
the current year.  Employees are assumed to have an equal portion of the present value of benefits 
attributed to each year of service from date of hire to expected retirement age. 
 
The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) is equal to the Normal Cost plus an amount to amortize 
the unfunded AAL as a level dollar amount over a period of 30 years on a “closed” basis starting 
January 1, 2008.  There are 22 years remaining as of January 1, 2016.   
 
The table below contains a 20 year projection of projected benefit payments under the current and 
proposed benefit plans for UCOA members.  The projected benefit payments are net of required 
retiree contributions, but include the value of the implicit premium rate subsidy for non-Medicare 
retirees for whom the same premium rate is charged as for actives.  The estimated projected benefit 
payments are based on employees and retirees as of the valuation date.  Future employees are not 
reflected in the table below.   
 

Calendar Projected Benefit Payments 
Year Current Plan  Proposed Plan Difference 
2016 $  356,000 $  356,000 0 
2017 389,000 382,000 (7,000) 
2018 378,000 366,000 (12,000) 
2019 415,000 396,000 (19,000) 
2020 436,000 409,000 (27,000) 
2021 467,000 432,000 (35,000) 
2022 490,000 448,000 (42,000) 
2023 500,000 450,000 (50,000) 
2024 534,000 474,000 (60,000) 
2025 563,000 495,000 (68,000) 
2026 563,000 488,000 (75,000) 
2027 590,000 507,000 (83,000) 
2028 557,000 473,000 (84,000) 
2029 551,000 463,000 (88,000) 
2030 564,000 469,000 (95,000) 
2031 529,000 433,000 (96,000) 
2032 569,000 464,000 (105,000) 
2033 540,000 435,000 (105,000) 
2034 549,000 437,000 (112,000) 
2035 508,000 396,000 (112,000) 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 4 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Important Notes 

Except where noted above, the results in this letter are based on the same data, methods, 
assumptions, and plan provisions that are used in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation report for 
the Contra Costa County (“County”), dated August 8, 2014.  Appendices A through C contain a 
description of the current provisions assumptions and data used in the valuation report for UCOA 
employees and retirees.  
 
In preparing our report, we relied, without audit, on information (some oral and some in writing) 
supplied by Contra Costa County’s staff.  This information includes but not limited to employee census 
data, financial information and plan provisions.  While Milliman has not audited the financial and 
census data, they have been reviewed for reasonableness and are, in our opinion, sufficient and 
reliable for the purposes of our calculations.  If any of this information as summarized in this report is 
inaccurate or incomplete, the results shown could be materially affected and this report may need to 
be revised.  
 
All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the County have been determined on the 
basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the 
experience of the County and reasonable expectations); and which, in combination, offer our best 
estimate of anticipated experience affecting the County.  Further, in our opinion, each actuarial 
assumption used is reasonably related to the experience of the Plan and to reasonable expectations 
which, in combination, represent our best estimate of anticipated experience for the County. 
 
This analysis is only an estimate of the Plan’s financial condition as of a single date.  It can neither 
predict the Plan’s future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness.  Actuarial valuations do 
not affect the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of County contributions.  While the 
valuation is based on an array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may 
also be reasonable and valuation results based on those assumptions would be different.  No one 
set of assumptions is uniquely correct. Determining results using alternative assumptions is outside 
the scope of our engagement. 
 
The estimates as of January 1, 2016, are based on actual health plan premiums for 2016, but are 
based on census data and assumptions specified in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation.  The 
actual valuation results for UCOA as of January 1, 2016, will differ based on changes in census data 
form 2014 and assumptions that will be established for the 2016 actuarial valuation.  Furthermore, 
future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in 
this report due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the 
economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; 
increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these 
measurements (such as the end of an amortization period); and changes in plan provisions or 
applicable law. Due to the limited scope of our assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the 
potential range of future measurements. The County has the final decision regarding the 
appropriateness of the assumptions and actuarial cost methods. 
 
This letter is prepared solely for the internal business use of Contra Costa County.  To the extent 
that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s 
work may not be provided to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent.  Milliman does not 
intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party recipient of its work product.  Milliman’s 
consent to release its work product to any third party may be conditioned on the third party signing a 
Release, subject to the following exceptions: 



Lisa Driscoll 
November 10, 2015 
Page 5 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

 

 
a) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the County's 

professional service advisors who are subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to 
not use Milliman’s work for any purpose other than to benefit the County.  

 
b) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to other 

governmental entities, as required by law.  
 
No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such 
recipients should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 
 
The consultants who worked on this assignment are actuaries.  Milliman’s advice is not intended to be 
a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel.  
 
The signing actuary is independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any relationship that 
would impair the objectivity of our work. 
 
On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the report 
is complete and accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 
accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the applicable Actuarial 
Standards of Practice of the American Academy of Actuaries.  The undersigned is a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of 
Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.  
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 John R. Botsford, FSA, MAAA 
 Principal and Consulting Actuary 
 
JRB:dy 
enc. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 1 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix A.  Summary of Benefits under Current Plan before Proposed Changes 
 

The following description of retiree health benefits is intended to be only a brief summary and is not 
complete information.  
 
 
Eligibility 
 
Currently, employees may receive retiree health benefits if they retire from the County, are receiving 
a pension, and meet certain eligibility requirements as follows:   
 
Safety employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 20 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
 
Health Benefits 
 
Currently, eligible retirees and their dependents are covered under the health plans sponsored by 
CalPERS (PEMHCA).  The County will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the CalPERS Kaiser 
premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, employee + two or more) for the 
region in which the retiree resides, but the County’s subsidy will not exceed the total premium of a 
lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage.   
 
All surviving spouses receive the same County subsidy as the retiree. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 2 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

PEMHCA Health Plan Premium Rates 
 
Eligible retirees can choose to enroll in health plans sponsored by CalPERS based on their 
residence region (Bay Area, Sacramento, Los Angeles, Northern California, Southern California and 
Out of State of California).  The following table shows the monthly Bay Area retiree health insurance 
premiums for the 2015 and 2016 calendar years: 
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – Effective January 1, 2015 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
Anthem HMO Select  $ 662.41   $ 445.38   $ 1,324.82   $ 890.76   $ 1,722.27   $ 1,336.14  
Anthem HMO Traditional 827.57  445.38  1,655.14  890.76  2,151.68  1,336.14  
Blue Shield 928.87  352.63  1,857.74  705.26  2,415.06  1,057.89  
Blue Shield NetValue  870.60  352.63  1,741.20  705.26  2,263.56  1,057.89  
Kaiser  714.45  295.51  1,428.90  591.02  1,857.57  886.53  
PERS Choice 700.84  339.47  1,401.68  678.94  1,822.18  1,018.41  
PERS Select 690.43  339.47  1,380.86  678.94  1,795.12  1,018.41  
PERSCare 775.08  368.76  1,550.16  737.52  2,015.21  1,106.28  
United Healthcare 850.67  267.41  1,701.34  534.82  2,211.74  802.23  
CCHP 772.95 660.92 1,545.91 1,321.84 2,009.68 1,982.76 

 
Effective January 1, 2016, CalPERS will no longer offer Medicare Advantage plans offered by 
Anthem and Blue Shield and will add a Health Net option for non-Medicare retirees only.  
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – Effective January 1, 2016 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
Anthem HMO Select  $ 721.79    N/A   $ 1,443.58    N/A   $ 1,876.65    N/A  
Anthem HMO Traditional 855.42   N/A  1,710.84  N/A  2,224.09  N/A  
Blue Shield 1,016.18   N/A 2,032.36  N/A 2,642.07  N/A 
Blue Shield NetValue  1,033.86  N/A 2,067.72  N/A 2,688.04  N/A 
HealthNet SmartCare 808.44  N/A 1,616.88  N/A 2,101.94  N/A 
Kaiser  746.47 297.23 1,492.94 594.46 1,940.82 891.69 
PERS Choice 798.36 366.38 1,596.72 732.76 2,075.74 1099.14 
PERS Select 730.07 366.38 1,460.14 732.76 1,898.18 1099.14 
PERSCare 889.27 408.04 1,778.54 816.08 2,312.10 1224.12 
United Healthcare 955.44 320.98 1,910.88 641.96 2,484.14 962.94 
CCHP * N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

* Not available for 2016, as of January 1, 2014 no UCOA employees and retirees were enrolled in this plan. 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 3 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Dental Plan Premiums 
 
The following table shows monthly retiree dental insurance premiums for the 2016 calendar year.  
County subsidies vary based on retiree’s medical plan enrollment election and bargaining unit upon 
retirement.   

Plan Monthly Premiums 
  

Delta Dental - $1,600 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 42.45 
Family 95.63 
  
Delta Care (PMI)  
Retiree $ 29.06 
Family 62.81 

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 4 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix B.  Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 
 

The actuarial cost method used for determining the benefit obligations is the Projected Unit Credit 
Cost Method.  Under this method, the actuarial present value of projected benefits is the value of 
benefits expected to be paid for current actives and eligible retirees and is calculated based on the 
assumptions and census data described in this report.   
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee 
service rendered prior to the valuation date.  The AAL equals the present value of benefits multiplied 
by a fraction equal to service to date over service at expected retirement.  The Normal Cost is the 
actuarial present value of benefits attributed to one year of service.  This equals the present value of 
benefits divided by service at expected retirement.  Since retirees are not accruing any more 
service, their normal cost is zero.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the market value of 
assets as of the valuation date.   
 
In determining the Annual Required Contribution, the Unfunded AAL is amortized as a level dollar 
amount over 30 years on a “closed” basis.  There are 22 years remaining in the amortization period 
as of January 1, 2016.  The actuarial assumptions are summarized below. 
 
Economic Assumptions 
 
Discount Rate (Liabilities) 5.70%  
 
We have used a discount rate of 5.70% in this valuation to reflect the County’s current policy of 
partially funding its OPEB liabilities.  This rate is derived based on the fund’s investment policy, level 
of partial funding, and includes a 2.50% long-term inflation assumption.  County OPEB Irrevocable 
Trust assets are invested in the Public Agency Retirement Services’ Highmark Portfolio.  Based on 
the portfolio’s target allocation (shown below), the average return of Trust assets over the next 30 
years is expected to be 6.25%, which would be an appropriate discount rate if the County’s annual 
contribution is equal to the ARC.  If the County were to elect not to fund any amount to a Trust, the 
discount rate would be based on the expected return of the County’s general fund (we have 
assumed a long term return of 3.50% for the County’s general fund).  Since the County is partially 
funding the Trust with a contribution of $20 million per year, we used a blended discount rate of 
5.70%. 

Asset Class 
Expected 1-Year 
Nominal Return 

Targeted Asset 
Allocation 

Domestic Equity Large Cap 8.14% 17.0% 
Domestic Equity Mid Cap 8.92% 6.0% 
Domestic Equity Small Cap 9.90% 8.0% 
U.S. Fixed Income 4.69% 38.0% 
International / Global Equity (Developed) 8.56% 16.0% 
Real Estate 8.12% 4.0% 
Cash 3.01% 1.0% 
Alternatives 5.71% 10.0% 
   
Expected Geometric Median Annual Return (30 years)  6.25% 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 5 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

 
Demographic Assumptions 
Below is a summary of the assumed rates for mortality, retirement, disability and withdrawal, which are 
consistent with assumptions used in the December 31, 2012 CCCERA Actuarial Valuation. 
 
Pre / Post Retirement Mortality 
Healthy: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set back 

two years. 

Disabled: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set 
forward three years. 

Beneficiaries: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with Scale AA, set back 
one year. 

 

Disability 
Age UCOA 
20 0.02% 
25 0.22% 
30 0.42% 
35 0.56% 
40 0.66% 
45 0.94% 
50 2.54% 

 
 
Withdrawal – Sample probabilities of terminating employment with the County are shown below for 
selected years of County service. 
 

Years of Service UCOA 
Less than 1 11.50% 

1 6.50% 
2 5.00% 
3 4.00% 
4 3.50% 
5 3.00% 

10 1.90% 
15 1.40% 

20 or more 1.00% 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 6 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirement – For this report, we have applied the following retirement rates. 
 

Age UCOA  Age UCOA 
45 2%  60 40% 
46 2%  61 40% 
47 7%  62 40% 
48 7%  63 40% 
49 20%  64 40% 
50 25%  65 100% 
51 25%  66 100% 
52 25%  67 100% 
53 25%  68 100% 
54 25%  69 100% 
55 30%  70 100% 
56 25%  72 100% 
57 25%  73 100% 
58 35%  74 100% 
59 35%  75 100% 

Coverage Election Assumptions 

Retiree Coverage – We have assumed 90% of new retirees will elect medical and dental coverage at 
retirement.   

Spouse Coverage – We have assumed 50% of new retirees electing coverage will elect spouse 
medical and dental coverage at retirement.   

Spouse Age – Female spouses are assumed to be three years younger than male spouses. 

Dependent Coverage – We have assumed 30% of retirees with no spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65, and 50% of retirees with spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65. 

Health Plan Election – We have assumed that new retirees will remain enrolled in the same plan they 
were enrolled in as actives.  For actives who waived coverage, we have assumed that they will elect 
Kaiser plan coverage. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 7 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Valuation of Retiree Premium Subsidy Due to Active Health Costs 
 
The California PERS (PEMHCA) health plans charge the same premiums for retirees who are not 
yet eligible for Medicare as for active employees.  Therefore, the retiree premium rates are being 
subsidized by the inclusion of active lives in setting rates.  (Premiums calculated only based on 
retiree health claims experience would have resulted in higher retiree premiums.)  GASB 45 
requires that the value of this subsidy be recognized as a liability in valuations of OPEB costs.  To 
account for the fact that per member health costs vary depending on age (higher health costs at 
older ages), we calculated equivalent per member per month (PMPM) costs that vary by age based 
on the age distribution of covered members, and based on relative cost factors by age.  The relative 
cost factors were developed from the Milliman Health Cost GuidelinesTM.  Based on the carrier 
premium rates and relative age cost factors assumptions, we developed age adjusted monthly 
PMPM health costs for 2014 to be used in valuing the implicit rate subsidy.  The following tables 
show the age adjusted expected monthly claims cost for a male participant at age 64 for each health 
plan and relative age factors compared to a male age 64.   
 

Plan 
Monthly Age Adjusted Claims 

Cost for Age 64 Male 
Dependent Child Cost 

Load  
California PERS Plans (average)  $ 1,100  $ 219 

 
Relative Claims Cost Factor Compared to Male age 64 

Age Male Female 
50 0.458 0.572 
55 0.604 0.668 
60 0.786 0.789 
64 1.000 0.915 

 

Since retirees eligible for Medicare (age 65 and beyond) are enrolled in Medicare supplemental plans, 
the premiums for retirees with Medicare are determined without regard to active employee claims 
experience and no such subsidy exists for this group for medical cost.   
 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 8 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Medical Cost Inflation Assumption 
 
We assumed future increases to the health costs and premiums are based on the “Getzen” model 
published by the Society of Actuaries for purposes of evaluating long term medical trend.  Under the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, a Federal excise tax will apply for high cost 
health plans beginning in 2018.  A margin to reflect the impact of the excise tax in future years is 
reflected in the assumed trend.  The following table shows the assumed rate increases in future 
years for Medical premiums.   
 

 
 
 

Calendar Year Pre 65 Calendar Year Post 65 
2016 6.25% 2016 6.50% 
2017 – 2018 6.75% 2017 – 2025 6.00% 
2019 7.00% 2026 – 2032 5.75% 
2020 – 2022 7.25% 2033  6.00% 
2023 – 2024 7.00% 2034  6.75% 
2025 – 2029 6.75% 2035 6.50% 
2030 – 2033 6.50% 2036 – 2042 6.25% 
2034 – 2036 6.25% 2043 – 2045 6.00% 
2037 – 2038 6.00% 2046 – 2051 5.75% 
2039 – 2043 5.75% 2052 – 2059 5.50% 
2044 – 2050 5.50% 2060 – 2070 5.25% 
2051 – 2061 5.25% 2071 – 2076 5.00% 
2062 – 2074 5.00% 2077 – 2081 4.75% 
2075 – 2079 4.75% 2082 + 4.50% 
2080 + 4.50%   

    
 
Dental Cost  We assumed Dental costs will increase 4.0% annually.



 

Contra Costa County 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for United Chief Officers’ Association (UCOA) 9 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix C.  Summary of Participant Data 
The following census of participants was used in the actuarial valuation and provided by Contra Costa 
County.   
 
Active Employees 

Age UCOA 
Under 25 0 
25 – 29 0 
30 – 34 0 
35 – 39 1 
40 – 44 1 
45 – 49 6 
50 – 54 3 
55 – 59 1 
60 – 64 0 

65 & Over    0 
Total 12 

Average Age at Hire: 26.17 
Average Age on Valuation Date: 48.25 

 
Current Retirees 

Age UCOA 
Under 50 0 
50 – 54 5 
55 – 59 9 
60 – 64 7 
65 – 69 4 
70 – 74 0 
75 – 79 0 
80 – 84 0 

85 & Over 0 
Total 25 

Average Age on Valuation Date:  59.2 
 
 

 
 



 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

650 California Street, 17th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94108-2702 
USA 

Tel +1 415 403 1333 
Fax +1 415 403 1334 

milliman.com 

 

 January 9, 2015 
Ms. Lisa Driscoll 
County Finance Director 
County Administrator’s Office 
651 Pine Street, 10th Floor 
Martinez, CA  94553 
 
Contra Costa County Retiree Health Plan 
Analysis of Proposed Retiree Health Benefit Change for International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1230 of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District 
 
Dear Ms. Driscoll: 
 
As requested, we have estimated the cost impact of a proposed change to retiree health benefits for 
the International Association of Firefighters Local 1230 (“Local 1230”).  The proposed benefit 
change would apply to all Local 1230 employees and retirees for the Contra Costa County Fire 
Protection District (“District”).  The purpose of this analysis is to estimate the change in the District’s 
long-term other postemployment liability under GASB 45 (comparison of the present value of 
benefits, actuarial accrued liability, normal cost, annual required contribution, and projected benefit 
payments is shown before and after the proposed change) to comply with California Government 
Code Section 7507.  
 
Current Plan 

Currently, for eligible retirees from bargaining unit 4N, the District will pay a subsidy toward the cost 
of monthly medical premiums equal to 87% of the CalPERS Bay Area Basic Kaiser premium at 
each coverage level, but not more than the actual premium, if less.     
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the District will also subsidize an amount equal 
to 78% of the monthly dental premium.  For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical 
coverage, the District will subsidize an amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the 
retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month for such coverage. 
 
Proposed Plan 

District Premium Subsidy on or after January 1, 2016: For 2016 and each calendar year thereafter, 
the prior year’s District subsidy for each medical plan and rate tier will increase by 50% of the actual 
premium increase in the medical plan and rate tier in which the member is enrolled.  
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 2 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

For eligible retirees from bargaining unit 4N enrolled in both a medical and dental plan, the District 
will pay a subsidy equal to 50% of the cost of monthly dental premiums in 2016 and later.  For 
retirees enrolled only in a dental plan, retirees are required to pay $0.01 per month for dental 
coverage.  For 2016 and later, the required monthly contribution from retirees would increase each 
year by 50% of the dental premium increase.   
 
Results 

 2014 Actuarial Valuation Results 

 Current Plan 
Proposed Plan* 

(Local 1230 Change) Difference 
Present Value of Benefits    
Active Employees $625,243,000 $607,882,000 ($17,361,000) 
Retirees $567,919,000 $554,996,000 ($12,923,000) 
Total $1,193,162,000 $1,162,878,000 ($30,284,000) 
    
Actuarial Accrued Liability    
Active Employees $355,929,000 $347,330,000 ($8,599,000) 
Retirees $567,919,000 $554,996,000 ($12,923,000) 
Total $923,848,000 $902,326,000 ($21,522,000) 
    
Assets $129,426,000 $129,426,000  
Unfunded AAL $794,422,000 $772,900,000 ($21,522,000) 
Amortization of UAAL as of June 30, 2014 $59,872,000 $58,250,000 ($1,622,000) 
    
Normal Cost as of June 30, 2014 $28,666,000 $27,860,000 ($806,000) 
    
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $88,538,000 $86,110,000 ($2,428,000) 
    
* For comparison purposes, the liabilities associated with the proposed plan change were 

measured based on the 2014 premiums trended to 2015 using the trend assumption stated in 
our 2014 actuarial valuation. The actual calendar year 2015 medical and dental premiums may 
differ from the trended premiums and the liabilities based on actual 2015 premiums may also 
differ than the amounts shown above. 

 
The items shown in the table above are defined as follows: 
 
The Present Value of Benefits is the present value of projected benefits (projected claims less 
retiree contributions) discounted at the valuation interest rate (5.70%). 
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the present value of benefits that are attributed to past 
service only.  The portion attributed to future employee service is excluded.  For retirees, this is 
equal to the present value of benefits. For active employees, this is equal to the present value of 
benefits prorated by service to date over service at the expected retirement age. 
 
The Normal Cost is that portion of the District provided benefit attributable to employee service in 
the current year.  Employees are assumed to have an equal portion of the present value of benefits 
attributed to each year of service from date of hire to expected retirement age. 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 3 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

The Annual Required Contribution (ARC) is equal to the Normal Cost plus an amount to amortize 
the unfunded AAL as a level dollar amount over a period of 30 years on a “closed” basis starting 
January 1, 2008.  There are 24 years remaining as of January 1, 2014.   
 
The table below contains a 25 year projection of projected benefit payments under the current and 
proposed benefit plans.  The projected benefit payments are net of required retiree contributions, 
but include the value of the implicit premium rate subsidy for non-Medicare retirees for whom the 
same premium rate is charged as for actives.  The projected benefit payments include only 
employees and retirees as of the valuation date (January 1, 2014).  Future employees are not 
reflected in the table below.   
 

 Projected Benefit Payments  

Year 
Current 

Plan 

Proposed Plan 
(Local 1230 

Change) Difference 
2014 $54,439,000  $54,439,000  $0  
2015 56,181,000 56,181,000 0  
2016 58,437,000 58,327,000 (110,000) 
2017 61,348,000 61,112,000 (236,000) 
2018 63,630,000 63,263,000 (367,000) 
2019 66,025,000 65,520,000 (505,000) 
2020 68,604,000 67,948,000 (656,000) 
2021 70,593,000 69,768,000 (825,000) 
2022 72,445,000 71,455,000 (990,000) 
2023 74,411,000 73,259,000 (1,152,000) 
2024 76,694,000 75,376,000 (1,318,000) 
2025 78,735,000 77,233,000 (1,502,000) 
2026 80,219,000 78,546,000 (1,673,000) 
2027 81,526,000 79,667,000 (1,859,000) 
2028 82,231,000 80,193,000 (2,038,000) 
2029 82,931,000 80,705,000 (2,226,000) 
2030 84,113,000 81,705,000 (2,408,000) 
2031 84,428,000 81,848,000 (2,580,000) 
2032 84,455,000 81,688,000 (2,767,000) 
2033 85,136,000 82,202,000 (2,934,000) 
2034 85,151,000 82,068,000 (3,083,000) 
2035 84,817,000 81,589,000 (3,228,000) 
2036 84,882,000 81,465,000 (3,417,000) 
2037 84,839,000 81,301,000 (3,538,000) 
2038 84,615,000 80,960,000 (3,655,000) 

 

Important Notes 

Except where noted above, the results in this letter are based on the same data, methods, 
assumptions, and plan provisions that are used in the January 1, 2014, actuarial valuation report for 
the Contra Costa County (“County”), dated August 8, 2014.  Appendices A through C contain a 
description of the current provisions assumptions and data used in the valuation report.  
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 4 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

In preparing our report, we relied, without audit, on information (some oral and some in writing) 
supplied by Contra Costa County’s staff.  This information includes but not limited to employee census 
data, financial information and plan provisions.  While Milliman has not audited the financial and 
census data, they have been reviewed for reasonableness and are, in our opinion, sufficient and 
reliable for the purposes of our calculations.  If any of this information as summarized in this report is 
inaccurate or incomplete, the results shown could be materially affected and this report may need to 
be revised.  
 
All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the District have been determined on the 
basis of actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the 
experience of the District and reasonable expectations); and which, in combination, offer our best 
estimate of anticipated experience affecting the District.  Further, in our opinion, each actuarial 
assumption used is reasonably related to the experience of the Plan and to reasonable expectations 
which, in combination, represent our best estimate of anticipated experience for the District. 
 
This analysis is only an estimate of the Plan’s financial condition as of a single date.  It can neither 
predict the Plan’s future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness.  Actuarial valuations do 
not affect the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of District contributions.  While the 
valuation is based on an array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may 
also be reasonable and valuation results based on those assumptions would be different.  No one 
set of assumptions is uniquely correct. Determining results using alternative assumptions is outside 
the scope of our engagement. 
 
Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in 
this report due to such factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the 
economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; 
increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these 
measurements (such as the end of an amortization period); and changes in plan provisions or 
applicable law. Due to the limited scope of our assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the 
potential range of future measurements. The District has the final decision regarding the 
appropriateness of the assumptions and actuarial cost methods. 
 
This letter is prepared solely for the internal business use of Contra Costa County.  To the extent 
that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s 
work may not be provided to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent.  Milliman does not 
intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party recipient of its work product.  Milliman’s 
consent to release its work product to any third party may be conditioned on the third party signing a 
Release, subject to the following exceptions: 
 

a) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the County's 
professional service advisors who are subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to 
not use Milliman’s work for any purpose other than to benefit the County.  

 
b) Contra Costa County may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to other 

governmental entities, as required by law.  
 
No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such 
recipients should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 
 



Lisa Driscoll 
January 9, 2015 
Page 5 

This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are actuaries.  Milliman’s advice is not intended to be 
a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel.  
 
The signing actuary is independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any relationship that 
would impair the objectivity of our work. 
 
On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the report 
is complete and accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 
accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the applicable Actuarial 
Standards of Practice of the American Academy of Actuaries.  The undersigned is a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of 
Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein.  
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 John R. Botsford, FSA, MAAA 
 Principal and Consulting Actuary 
 
JRB:dy 
enc. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 1 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix A.  Summary of Benefits under Current Plan before Proposed Changes 
 

The following description of retiree health benefits is intended to be only a brief summary and is not 
complete information.  
 
 
Eligibility 
 
Currently, employees may receive retiree health benefits if they retire from the County, are receiving 
a pension, and meet certain eligibility requirements as follows:   
 
General employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 30 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
Safety employees - age 50 with 10 years of pension service or age 70 with a vested pension, or 
after 20 years of pension service with no age requirement.  
 
Employees hired after December 31, 2006 and represented by the following bargaining groups 
(AFSCME, California Nurses Association, Deputy District Attorneys’ Association, Public Defenders 
Association, IFPTE, Western Council of Engineers, SEIU, PEU, Probation Peace Officers 
Association, and Unrepresented) also must have 15 years of County service.  
 
Employees hired on or after October 1, 2005, and represented by the Physicians’ and Dentists’ 
Organization also must have 15 years of County service. 
 
Health Benefits 
 
Currently, eligible retirees and their dependents are covered either under the Contra Costa Health 
Plans, Health Net plans, Kaiser plans, or health plans sponsored by CalPERS (PEMHCA).  
Coverage may be provided for a retiree and surviving spouse as long as retiree and surviving 
spouse monthly premium contributions are paid.  The County may pay a subsidy toward eligible 
retirees’ monthly medical and dental premiums.  This subsidy may vary by bargaining unit and date 
of hire as described in this appendix.  Employees hired on or after dates described in the table 
below and represented by the following bargaining groups must pay the entire cost of premiums to 
maintain coverage.  

Bargaining Unit Name 
Hire Date on or after which eligible retirees 

must pay entire cost of premiums 
IFPTE, Unrepresented January 1, 2009 
AFSCME, Western Council of Engineers, SEIU, and PEU January 1, 2010 
Deputy District Attorneys Association December 14, 2010 
Probation Peace Officers Association of CCC January 1, 2011 
CCC Public Defenders Association March 1, 2011 
  
 
All surviving spouses must pay the entire cost of premiums to maintain coverage, with the exception 
of the following bargaining groups for whom the surviving spouse receives the same County subsidy 
as the retiree (covered by CalPERS health plans): A8 (Sheriff). BD (Fire Chief), BS (Sworn Exec. 
Mgmt.), HA, V#, VH, VN, 4N, BF, and XJ. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 2 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Bargaining Units V#, VH, VN, F8 and FW  
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the bargaining units listed in the table below, the County will 
contribute toward the cost of monthly premiums (medical and dental) in 2014 an amount equal to 
the actual dollar monthly premium amount paid by the County as of November 30, 2013, at each 
coverage level, plus 50% of the actual premium increase for 2014.  For premium increases in 2015 
and later, the County and retiree will split the increase evenly: the County will pay for 50% of the 
increase, and the retiree must pay for the other 50% of the increase.   
 
Retirees who elected dental coverage without health coverage will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for 2013, plus 50% of the actual premium increase for 2014.  For premium increases in 2015 and 
later, the County and retiree will split the increase evenly: the County will pay for 50% of the 
increase, and the retiree must pay for the other 50% of the increase. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General /  
Safety 

F8 
Unrep Classified & Exempt-Othr   
        General 

FW 
Unrep Cl & Ex-Sworn Peace Offc  
         Safety 

V# Sheriff's Sworn Mgmt Unit Safety 
VH Deputy Sheriff's Unit-Sworn Safety 
VN Deputy Sheriff's Unit-NonSworn General 

   
 
For employees hired between January 2, 2007, and September 30, 2011, and represented by the 
Deputy Sheriffs’ Association, the County subsidy is subject to a vesting schedule as shown in the 
table below.  
 

Credited Years of 
Service 

Percentage of Employer 
Contribution 

10 50 
11 55 
12 60 
13 65 
14 70 
15 75 
16 80 
17 85 
18 90 
19 95 

20 or more 100 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 3 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Bargaining Unit HA – Fire Management 
 
Currently, for eligible Fire Management retirees represented by United Chief Officers Association 
(UCOA) with bargaining unit code HA, the County will subsidize an amount equal to 80% of the 
CalPERS Kaiser premium at each coverage level (employee only, employee + one, employee + two 
or more) for the region in which the retiree resides, but the County’s subsidy will not exceed the total 
premium of a lower cost plan. 
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize 78% of the monthly 
dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage.   
 
Bargaining Unit XJ – D.A. Investigators 
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the bargaining unit XJ, the County will pay a subsidy toward the 
cost of monthly premiums (medical and dental) in 2014 an amount equal to the actual dollar monthly 
premium amount paid by the County in 2013, depending on coverage level.  For 2014 and later, the 
County subsidy will increase by 75% of the actual premium increase in Bay Area Kaiser rates.  
 
For retirees enrolled in a health plan from CalPERS, the County will subsidize an amount equal to 
78% of the monthly dental premium. 
 
For retirees who elect dental coverage without medical coverage, the County will subsidize an 
amount toward the monthly dental premium such that the retiree will pay one cent ($0.01) per month 
for such coverage. 
 
 
Bargaining Units 1P, 1R, 4N, and L3 
 
Currently, for eligible retirees from the following bargaining units, the County subsidizes a 
percentage of monthly premiums that varies depending on the medical and dental plan elected.  
Retirees from certain bargaining units described below also receive reimbursement of their 
Medicare Part B premiums as long as the total County subsidy does not exceed 100% of the 
medical plan premium. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General /  
Safety 

Part B  
Reimbursement 

1P Physicians and Dentists Unit  General Yes, stops in 2015 
1R Physicians & Dentists Unit-Residents  General Yes, stops in 2015 
4N Fire Suppression & Prevention Unit  Safety No 

L3 Registered Nurses Unit General 
If retired on or before 

6/30/2012 and age 65 on 
or before 10/31/2012 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 4 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirees from the above listed units receive the following County subsidy based on the medical plan 
elected: 
 

Medical Plan Bargaining Unit 
County Subsidy 

% (Medical) 
County Subsidy 

% (Dental) 
Contra Costa Health Plan A and B    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 98% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 98% 98% 
    
Kaiser, Health Net HMO    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 78% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 80% 78% 
    
Health Net PPO    
Without Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 0% 
With Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 78% 
With PMI Delta Dental 1P, 1R, L3 55%* 78% 
    
All Medical Plans    
Without Dental 4N 87% of Kaiser 0% 
With Dental Plan 4N 87% of Kaiser 78% 
    
Dental Only All Units Listed Above 0% All but $0.01 / 

month 
∗ Approximately 55% for 2014.  Future increases are split evenly between the County and the retiree. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 5 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

All other Bargaining Units - County Subsidy Frozen at the 2011 Level 
 
Currently, eligible retirees from the following bargaining units listed receive County subsidies at the 
same amount agreed upon between the County and the Bargaining Units in 2011 towards the 
medical and dental premiums with no future increases to this subsidy amount. 
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

 Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

1X Phys & Dnts & Optometrist Unit  General  JF CCC Defenders/Investigators General 
2I*  General  K2 Property Appraisers Unit General 
25 Social Services Unit General  K5 Court Professional Svcs Unit General 
51 Professional Engineers Unit General  K6 Supervisory Clerical Unit General 
99 DEFAULT BARGAINING UNIT General  KK Income Maintence Program Unit General 
2D Community Aide Unit General  KL Engineering Technician Unit General 
2I Service Line Supervisors Unit General  KM Sheriff's Non-Sworn Mgmt Unit General 
2R Superior Court Reporters-Ex General  KU Probation Supervisors Unit Safety 
3A Superior Court Clerical Unit General  KZ Social Svcs Staff Special Unit General 
3B Superior Court Barg Unit-Loc1 General  MA District Attorneys' Unit General 
3G Deputy Clerks Unit General  N2 Property Appraisers Unit General 
3R General Clerical Unit   General  PP Probation Unit of CCC Safety 
A8 Elected Department Heads General  QA Agriculture & Animal Ctrl Unit General 
AJ Elected Superior Court Judges General  QB LVN/Aide Unit General 
AM Elected Municipal Court Judges General  QC Fam/Chld Svs Site Supv Unit General 
AS Elected Board of Supvs Members General  QE Building Trades Unit General 
B8 Mgmt Classes-Classified & Exem General  QF Deputy Public Defender Unit/At General 
BA  General  QG Deputy Public Defender Unit-In General 
BC Superior Court Exempt Mgmt Gen General  QH Family and Children Services General 
BD Mgmt Classified & Ex Dept Head General  QM Engineering Unit General 
BF Fire District (MS) Safety Mgmt Safety  QP  General 
BH Superior Ct Exempt Mgmt-DH General  QS General Services & Mtce Unit General 
BJ Sup Ct Judicial Ofcrs Ex-Mgmt General  QT Health Services Unit General 
BS Sheriff's Sworn Executive Mgmt Safety  QV Investigative Unit General 
C8 Management Project-Other General  QW Legal & Court Clerk Unit General 
CH CS Head Start Mgmt-Project General  QX Library Unit General 
D8 Unrepresented Proj Class-Other General  QY Probation Unit General 
F8 Unrep Classified & Exempt-Other General  S2                                          General 
FC Unrep Superior Ct Clerical Exempt General  Z1 Supervisory Project General 
FD Unrep Superior Ct Other Exempt General  Z2 Non-Supervisory Project General 
FM Unrep Muni Ct Reporter-Exempt General  ZA Supervisory Management General 
FR Unrep Superior Ct Reptrs-Exempt General  ZB Non-Supervisory Management General 
FS Unrep Cl & Ex Student Workers General  ZL Supervisory Nurse General 
FX Unrep Exempt Medical Staff General  ZN Non-Supervisory Nurse General 
JD CCC Defenders/Attorneys General     

∗ Coded as “21” in census data. 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 6 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Health Insurance Premium Rates (non-PEMHCA) 
The following table shows monthly retiree health insurance premiums for the 2014 calendar year for 
coverage under various health plans sponsored by Contra Costa County, and the County’s 
subsidies as frozen at the 2011 level for the specified bargaining groups.   
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2014  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2014 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2014 
Contra Costa Health Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan  $ 509.92  $ 612.77  $ 509.92  $ 102.85 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,214.90 1,459.96 1,214.90 245.06 

Retiree on Medicare Coordination of Benefits (COB) Plan 420.27 279.23 279.22 0.01 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,035.60 1,228.77 1,035.60 193.17 

     

Contra Costa Health Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 528.50 679.27 528.50 150.77 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,255.79 1,614.06 1,255.79 358.27 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 444.63 287.60 287.59 0.01 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,088.06 1,265.63 1,088.06 177.57 
     
Kaiser Permanente – Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan 478.91 768.47 478.91 289.56 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,115.84 1,790.52 1,115.84 674.68 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 263.94 295.01 263.94 31.07 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 712.79 796.71 712.79 83.92 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,161.65 1,298.41 1,161.65 136.76 
     
Kaiser Permanente – Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 478.91 676.03 478.91 197.12 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,115.84 1,575.17 1,115.84 459.33 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 263.94 223.69 223.68 0.01 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 712.79 603.97 603.96 0.01 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare COB Plan 1,161.65 984.25 984.24 0.01 
     
Health Net HMO – Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan 627.79 1,067.40 627.79 439.61 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,540.02 2,618.43 1,540.02 1,078.41 
Retiree on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 409.69 514.28 409.69 104.59 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 819.38 1,028.56 819.38 209.18 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 1,229.07 1,542.84 1,229.07 313.77 
     
Health Net HMO – Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 627.79 836.04 627.79 208.25 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,540.02 2,050.86 1,540.02 510.84 
Retiree on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 409.69 431.74 409.69 22.05 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 819.38 863.48 819.38 44.10 
Retiree & 2 dependents on Medicare Seniority Plus Plan 1,229.07 1,295.22 1,229.07 66.15 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 7 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Health Insurance Premium Rates (continued) 
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2014  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2014 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2014 
Health Net Medicare COB     

Retiree only  $ 467.13  $ 573.03  $ 467.13  $ 105.90 

Retiree & spouse 934.29 1,146.06 934.29 211.77 
     

Health Net CA & Nat’l PPO – Basic Plan A     

Retiree on PPO 604.60 1,365.43 604.60 760.83 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Basic Plan 1,436.25 3,243.69 1,436.25 1,807.44 

Retiree on PPO Medicare Plan with Medicare Part A & B 563.17 924.22 563.17 361.05 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Medicare Plan with 
Medicare Part A & B 1,126.24 1,848.43 1,126.24 722.19 

     

Health Net CA & Nat’l PPO – Basic Plan B     

Retiree on PPO 604.60 1,240.08 604.60 635.48 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Basic Plan 1,436.25 2,945.89 1,436.25 1,509.64 

Retiree on PPO Medicare Plan with Medicare Part A & B 563.17 839.40 563.17 276.23 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on PPO Medicare Plan with 
Medicare Part A & B 1,126.24 1,678.80 1,126.24 552.5 

 
The following table shows monthly retiree health insurance premiums for the 2015 calendar year for 
health coverage under Contra Costa Health Plans sponsored by the Contra Costa County. 
 

Medical Plan 

County’s 
Subsidy 

(Frozen in 
2011) 

2015  
Premium Rate 

County’s 
Subsidy for 

2015 
Retiree’s 

Share for 2015 
Contra Costa Health Plan A     
Retiree on Basic Plan  $ 509.92  $ 654.44  $ 509.92  $ 144.52 

Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,214.90 1,559.24 1,214.90 344.34 

Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 420.27 301.01 301.00 0.01 

Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 1,035.60 602.02 602.01 0.01 

Family, 1 on Medicare COB Plan, and 1 or more on Basic Plan 1,035.60 963.23 963.22 0.01 

     

Contra Costa Health Plan B     
Retiree on Basic Plan 528.50 725.46 528.50 196.75 
Retiree & 1 or more dependents on Basic Plan 1,255.79 1,723.82 1,255.79 468.03 
Retiree on Medicare COB Plan 444.63 310.03 310.02 0.01 
Retiree & 1 dependent on Medicare COB Plan 1,088.06 620.06 620.05 0.01 
Family, 1 on Medicare COB Plan, and 1 or more on Basic Plan 1,088.06 992.10 992.09 0.01 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 8 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

PEMHCA Health Plan Premium Rates 
 
Eligible retirees from the bargaining units 4N, A8, B8, BD, BF, BS, F8, FW, HA, V#, VH, VN, and XJ 
can choose to enroll in health plans sponsored by CalPERS based on their residence region (Bay 
Area, Sacramento, Los Angeles, Northern California, Southern California and Out of State of 
California).  The following table shows the monthly Bay Area retiree health insurance premiums for 
the 2014 calendar year: 
 

 Monthly Premium Rates – 2014 
 Single 2-Party Family 
 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 Under 65 Over 65 
       
Blue Shield  $ 836.59   $ 298.21   $ 1,673.18   $ 596.42   $ 2,175.13   $ 894.63  
Blue Shield NetValue 704.01  298.21  1,408.02  596.42  1,830.43  894.63  
Kaiser  742.72  294.97  1,485.44  589.94  1,931.07  884.91  
PERSCare 720.04  327.36  1,440.08  654.72  1,872.10  982.08  
PERS Choice 690.77  307.23  1,381.54  614.46  1,796.00  921.69  
PERS Select 661.52  307.23  1,323.04  614.46  1,719.95  921.69  
Anthem HMO Select 657.33  341.12  1,314.66  682.24  1,709.06  1,023.36  
Anthem HMO Traditional 728.41  341.12  1,456.82  682.24  1,893.87  1,023.36  
United Healthcare 764.24  193.33  1,528.48  386.66  1,987.02  579.99  
PORAC 634.00 397.00 1,186.00 791.00 1,507.00 1,264.00 
CCHP  723.74 618.84 1,281.39 1,071.59 1,674.11 1,359.41 
 
Dental Plan Premiums 
 
The following table shows monthly retiree dental insurance premiums for the 2014 calendar year.  
County subsidies vary based on retiree’s medical plan enrollment election and bargaining unit upon 
retirement.   

Plan Monthly Premiums 
  

Delta Dental - $1,800 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 44.27 
Family 100.00 
  
Delta Dental - $1,600 Annual Maximum  
Retiree $ 42.45 
Family 95.63 
  
Delta Care (PMI)  
Retiree $ 29.06 
Family 62.81 

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 9 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Excluded Bargaining Units – Not Eligible for Plan Participation 
 
Members of the following bargaining units are not eligible for participation in the County’s retiree 
health plan.  
 

Bargaining 
Unit Code Bargaining Unit Name 

General / 
Safety 

 

8I IHSS Public Authority-Mgmt General  
8J IHSS Public Authority-Non Mgmt General  
8P Special Co Class Codes-Payroll General  
B9 Mgmt East CCFPD (Non-MS) Safety  

 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 10 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix B.  Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions 
 

The actuarial cost method used for determining the benefit obligations is the Projected Unit Credit 
Cost Method.  Under this method, the actuarial present value of projected benefits is the value of 
benefits expected to be paid for current actives and eligible retirees and is calculated based on the 
assumptions and census data described in this report.   
 
The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee 
service rendered prior to the valuation date.  The AAL equals the present value of benefits multiplied 
by a fraction equal to service to date over service at expected retirement.  The Normal Cost is the 
actuarial present value of benefits attributed to one year of service.  This equals the present value of 
benefits divided by service at expected retirement.  Since retirees are not accruing any more 
service, their normal cost is zero.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the market value of 
assets as of the valuation date.   
 
In determining the Annual Required Contribution, the Unfunded AAL is amortized as a level dollar 
amount over 30 years on a “closed” basis.  There are 24 years remaining in the amortization period 
as of January 1, 2014.  The actuarial assumptions are summarized below. 
 
Economic Assumptions 
 
Discount Rate (Liabilities) 5.70%  
 
We have used a discount rate of 5.70% in this valuation to reflect the County’s current policy of 
partially funding its OPEB liabilities.  This rate is derived based on the fund’s investment policy, level 
of partial funding, and includes a 2.50% long-term inflation assumption.  County OPEB Irrevocable 
Trust assets are invested in the Public Agency Retirement Services’ Highmark Portfolio.  Based on 
the portfolio’s target allocation (shown below), the average return of Trust assets over the next 30 
years is expected to be 6.25%, which would be an appropriate discount rate if the County’s annual 
contribution is equal to the ARC.  If the County were to elect not to fund any amount to a Trust, the 
discount rate would be based on the expected return of the County’s general fund (we have 
assumed a long term return of 3.50% for the County’s general fund).  Since the County is partially 
funding the Trust with a contribution of $20 million per year, we used a blended discount rate of 
5.70%. 

Asset Class 
Expected 1-Year 
Nominal Return 

Targeted Asset 
Allocation 

Domestic Equity Large Cap 8.14% 17.0% 
Domestic Equity Mid Cap 8.92% 6.0% 
Domestic Equity Small Cap 9.90% 8.0% 
U.S. Fixed Income 4.69% 38.0% 
International / Global Equity (Developed) 8.56% 16.0% 
Real Estate 8.12% 4.0% 
Cash 3.01% 1.0% 
Alternatives 5.71% 10.0% 
   
Expected Geometric Median Annual Return (30 years)  6.25% 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 11 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

 
Demographic Assumptions 
Below is a summary of the assumed rates for mortality, retirement, disability and withdrawal, which are 
consistent with assumptions used in the December 31, 2012 CCCERA Actuarial Valuation. 
 
Pre / Post Retirement Mortality 
Healthy: For General Members: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 

with Scale AA, set back one year. 
 For Safety Member: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with 

Scale AA, set back two years. 

Disabled: For General Members: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 
with Scale AA, set forward six years for males and set forward seven years for 
females. 

 For Safety Member: RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 2030 with 
Scale AA, set forward three years. 

Beneficiaries: Beneficiaries are assumed to have the same mortality as a General Member of the 
opposite sex who had taken a service (non-disability) retirement. 

 

Disability 
Age General Tier 3 Safety (All Tiers) 
20 0.01% 0.02% 
25 0.02% 0.22% 
30 0.03% 0.42% 
35 0.05% 0.56% 
40 0.08% 0.66% 
45 0.13% 0.94% 
50 0.17% 2.54% 

 
 
Withdrawal – Sample probabilities of terminating employment with the County are shown below for 
selected years of County service. 
 

Years of Service General Safety 
Less than 1 13.50% 11.50% 

1 9.00% 6.50% 
2 9.00% 5.00% 
3 6.00% 4.00% 
4 4.50% 3.50% 
5 4.00% 3.00% 

10 2.75% 1.90% 
15 2.10% 1.40% 

20 or more 2.00% 1.00% 

 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 12 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Retirement – For this valuation, we have applied the Tier 3 rates for all General employees and Tier 
A rates for all Safety employees since nearly all current employees are in these two pension tiers. 
 

Age 
General 
Tier 3 

Safety 
Tier A 

 
Age 

General 
Tier 3 

Safety 
Tier A 

45 0% 2%  60 15% 40% 
46 0% 2%  61 20% 40% 
47 0% 7%  62 27% 40% 
48 0% 7%  63 27% 40% 
49 0% 20%  64 30% 40% 
50 4% 25%  65 40% 100% 
51 3% 25%  66 40% 100% 
52 3% 25%  67 40% 100% 
53 5% 25%  68 40% 100% 
54 5% 25%  69 40% 100% 
55 10% 30%  70 40% 100% 
56 10% 25%  72 40% 100% 
57 10% 25%  73 40% 100% 
58 12% 35%  74 40% 100% 
59 12% 35%  75 100% 100% 

Coverage Election Assumptions 

Retiree Coverage – We have assumed 90% of new retirees will elect medical and dental coverage at 
retirement.  For new retirees who were members of certain bargaining units indicated in appendix A 
and hired after a certain date indicated (eligible retirees must pay entire cost of premium to maintain 
coverage), we have assumed 50% will elect medical and dental coverage at retirement. 

Spouse Coverage – We have assumed 50% of new retirees electing coverage will elect spouse 
medical and dental coverage at retirement.   

Spouse Age – Female spouses are assumed to be three years younger than male spouses. 

Dependent Coverage – We have assumed 30% of retirees with no spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65, and 50% of retirees with spouse coverage will elect 
coverage for a dependent child until age 65. 

Health Plan Election – We have assumed that new retirees will remain enrolled in the same plan they 
were enrolled in as actives.  For actives who waived coverage, we have assumed that they will elect 
Kaiser plan coverage. 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 13 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Valuation of Retiree Premium Subsidy Due to Active Health Costs 
 
The County and California PERS (PEMHCA) health plans charge the same premiums for retirees 
who are not yet eligible for Medicare as for active employees.  Therefore, the retiree premium rates 
are being subsidized by the inclusion of active lives in setting rates.  (Premiums calculated only 
based on retiree health claims experience would have resulted in higher retiree premiums.)  GASB 
45 requires that the value of this subsidy be recognized as a liability in valuations of OPEB costs.  
To account for the fact that per member health costs vary depending on age (higher health costs at 
older ages), we calculated equivalent per member per month (PMPM) costs that vary by age based 
on the age distribution of covered members, and based on relative cost factors by age.  The relative 
cost factors were developed from the Milliman Health Cost GuidelinesTM.  Based on the carrier 
premium rates and relative age cost factors assumptions, we developed age adjusted monthly 
PMPM health costs for 2014 to be used in valuing the implicit rate subsidy.  The following tables 
show the age adjusted expected monthly claims cost for a male participant at age 64 for each health 
plan and relative age factors compared to a male age 64.   
 

Plan 
Monthly Age Adjusted Claims 

Cost for Age 64 Male 
Dependent Child Cost 

Load  
CCHP A  $ 1,164  $ 157 
CCHP B 1,431 329 
Kaiser A 1,384 246 
Kaiser B 1,278 264 
Health Net HMO A 1,878 394 
Health Net HMO B 1,621 369 
Health Net PPO  1,903 316 
California PERS Plans (average) 1,100 219 

 
Relative Claims Cost Factor Compared to Male age 64 

Age Male Female 
50 0.458 0.572 
55 0.604 0.668 
60 0.786 0.789 
64 1.000 0.915 

 

Since retirees eligible for Medicare (age 65 and beyond) are enrolled in Medicare supplemental plans, 
the premiums for retirees with Medicare are determined without regard to active employee claims 
experience and no such subsidy exists for this group for medical cost.   
 
 



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 14 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Medical Cost Inflation Assumption 
 
We assumed future increases to the health costs and premiums are based on the “Getzen” model 
published by the Society of Actuaries for purposes of evaluating long term medical trend.  Under the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, a Federal excise tax will apply for high cost 
health plans beginning in 2018.  A margin to reflect the impact of the excise tax in future years is 
reflected in the assumed trend.  The following table shows the assumed rate increases in future 
years for Medical premiums.  
 

Calendar County Plans * Calendar PEMHCA Plans Calendar All Plans * 
Year Pre 65 Year Pre 65 Year Post 65 

2014 6.50% 2014 7.00% 2014 7.25% 
2015 5.25% 2015 5.75% 2015 6.00% 
2016 5.75% 2016 6.25% 2016 6.50% 
2017 6.50% 2017 – 2018 6.75% 2017 – 2025 6.00% 
2018 – 2020 5.75% 2019 7.00% 2026 – 2032 5.75% 
2021 – 2023 6.50% 2020 – 2022 7.25% 2033  6.00% 
2024 – 2028 6.25% 2023 – 2024 7.00% 2034  6.75% 
2029 6.50% 2025 – 2029 6.75% 2035 6.50% 
2030 – 2035 6.25% 2030 – 2033 6.50% 2036 – 2042 6.25% 
2036  6.00% 2034 – 2036 6.25% 2043 – 2045 6.00% 
2037 – 2040 5.75% 2037 – 2038 6.00% 2046 – 2051 5.75% 
2041 – 2048 5.50% 2039 – 2043 5.75% 2052 – 2059 5.50% 
2049 – 2063 5.25% 2044 – 2050 5.50% 2060 – 2070 5.25% 
2064 – 2074 5.00% 2051 – 2061 5.25% 2071 – 2076 5.00% 
2075 – 2079 4.75% 2062 – 2074 5.00% 2077 – 2081 4.75% 
2080 + 4.50% 2075 – 2079 4.75% 2082 + 4.50% 

  2080 + 4.50%   
      
* For Contra Costa Health Plan A and B, actual increase from calendar year 2014 to 2015 was 

used. 
 
Dental Cost  We assumed Dental costs will increase 4.0% annually.



 

Contra Costa County 
GASB 45 Actuarial Valuation as of January 1, 2014 15 
This work product was prepared solely for the Contra Costa County for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other 
purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Milliman recommends that third 
parties hire their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing Milliman work product. 

Milliman 

Milliman Client Report APPENDICES 

Appendix C.  Summary of Participant Data 
The following census of participants was used in the actuarial valuation and provided by Contra Costa 
County.   
 
Active Employees 

Age General Safety Total 
Under 25 44 10 54 
25 – 29 377 124 501 
30 – 34 732 168 900 
35 – 39 838 203 1,041 
40 – 44 883 236 1,119 
45 – 49 1,043 226 1,269 
50 – 54 1,148 85 1,233 
55 – 59 997 34 1,031 
60 – 64 663 17 680 

65 & Over 257 4 261 
Total 6,982 1,107 8,089 

Average Age at Hire: 45.93 
Average Age on Valuation Date: 10.31 

 
Current Retirees 

Age General Safety Total 
Under 50 22 69 91 
50 – 54 104 146 250 
55 – 59 390 163 553 
60 – 64 821 211 1,032 
65 – 69 1,155 255 1,410 
70 – 74 869 125 994 
75 – 79 619 86 705 
80 – 84 444 72 516 

85 & Over 595 60 655 
Total 5,019 1,187 6,206 

Average Age on Valuation Date:  69.92 
 
 

 
 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21772 to establish the classification of Fire Investigator-56 Hour

(KWH) (represented) at salary plan and grade 4N6-1793 ($6,877 - $9,215); reclassify three (3) Fire Investigator

(REG) (represented) position numbers 10853, 10854, and 13701 and the incumbents to Fire Investigator-56 Hour

(KWH) (represented); and abolish the classification of Fire Investigator (REG) (represented) in the Contra Costa

County Fire Protection District. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Cost neutral. Potential long term savings due to the elimination of standby pay differential and reduction in overtime

recall frequency and the overtime hourly rate. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District is recommending changing the staffing model of the Fire

Investigations Unit (FIU) from three positions on a standard 40-hour, five day workweek schedule to three positions

on three different rotating 24 hour shifts (A-B-C schedules). The latter model is the same one used for suppression

personnel and has the advantage 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Robert Marshall, Fire Marshal

(925) 941-3520

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Cheryl Koch,   James Hicks,   Eldreai Ellis,   Denise Cannon-Sanchez   

C.1

  

To: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Establish Classification of Fire Investigator-56 Hour, reallocate three positions; and abolish Fire Investigator



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

of providing 24/7 coverage for fire and arson investigations within the District. Reassigning personnel to a

different work schedule requires the establishment of a 56-hour classification. The monthly base pay will be the

same, but the hourly rate is reduced with a 56-hour schedule (2080 work hours per year vs. 2912 work hours per

year).

The District currently has one investigations unit supervisor and three fire investigator positions. In 2014 fire

investigators responded to over 600 incidents that required the assignment of an investigator. The District is seeing

an increase in the number of fires which require investigation each year and because fires are unpredictable, an

improved level of service will be achieved by having an investigator on shift at all times.

Currently, when a fire occurs outside of regular business hours, a standby investigator is contacted. The

investigator receives a pay differential for being on standby and overtime pay for travel and investigation time.

Time sensitivity is critical in fire and/or arson investigations. The District does not have a residency requirement,

so the investigator may be responding from a significant distance. Because of previous time delays, witnesses

have left the scene or the scene may have undergone damage from suppression efforts. In suspected serial arsonist

cases, the time frame is critical for identifying suspects and witnesses. A faster response time reduces or

eliminates these factors, potentially leading to more arrests and better prosecutions.

Investigators are assigned take home vehicles that contain their specialized protective and investigative

equipment. The cost to procure and up fit these vehicles is significant. Currently each investigator has an assigned

vehicle. In eliminating the standby requirement, investigators will no longer need take home vehicles.

Assigning investigators to a 56-hour average workweek schedule will result in a scheduled FLSA overtime

component being added to their regular, recurring pay. However, offsetting that is the elimination of the standby

pay differential (5%), a reduction in unscheduled overtime, a 40% reduction to the actual overtime rate, and

elimination of the costs associated with a take home vehicle (procurement, up fitting, fuel, maintenance, etc.).

Given that, this action may likely result in long term cost savings. We are, however, categorizing this request as

cost neutral while we gather more data during the first year of operation.

The existing incumbents are represented by IAFF, Local 1230. They are aware of and support the transition to a

24-hour A-B-C shift schedule.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The District will continue to conduct fire/arson investigations using standby investigators. This may result in a

higher cost to run the program, reduced accuracy in cause and origin investigations, and less success in arrest rates

and prosecution of arsonists.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.

ATTACHMENTS

P300 No. 21772 



POSITION ADJUSTMENT REQUEST  
 NO.  21772 

DATE  11/9/15 
Department No./ 

Department  Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Budget Unit No. 7300  Org No. 7300  Agency No. 70 

Action Requested:  ESTABLISH Fire Investigator-56 Hour (represented), ADD three (3) Fire Investigator-56 Hour 
positions, RECLASS incumbents in Fire Investigator (represented) positions (#10853, #10854, and #13701) to Fire 
Investigator-56 Hour (represented) and ABOLISH Fire Investigator (represented) classification in the Contra Costa 
County Fire Protection District. 

Proposed Effective Date:  10/01/2015 

Classification Questionnaire attached: Yes    No    /  Cost is within Department’s budget: Yes     No  

Total One-Time Costs (non-salary) associated with request:  $0 

Estimated total cost adjustment (salary / benefits / one time): 

Total annual cost  $0 Net County Cost  $0 

Total this FY  $0 N.C.C. this FY  $0 

SOURCE OF FUNDING TO OFFSET ADJUSTMENT  Cost Neutral 

 
Department must initiate necessary adjustment and submit to CAO. 
Use additional sheet for further explanations or comments. 
  Jackie Lorrekovich 
 ______________________________________ 

               (for) Department Head 
 
REVIEWED BY CAO AND RELEASED TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 
 /s/ Timothy M. Ewell 10/19/2015 
 ___________________________________      ________________ 
                  Deputy County Administrator              Date 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS      DATE  11/9/15 
 
Establish the classification of Fire Investigator-56 Hour (RJWH) (represented) at salary plan and grade 4N6-1793 ($6,877 - 
$9,215); reclassify three (3) Fire Investigator (RJWG) (represented) positions and its incumbents position numbers 10853, 10854, and 
13701  to Fire Investigator-56 Hour (RJWH) (represented);  and abolish the classification of Fire Investigator (RJWG) (represented)  
 
Amend Resolution 71/17 establishing positions and resolutions allocating classes to the Basic / Exempt salary schedule. 

Effective:     Day following Board Action. 
       (Date) /s/ Lisa Lopez 11/30/2015 
       ___________________________________        ________________ 

         (for) Director of Human Resources   Date 
 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: DATE   12/3/2015 
  Approve Recommendation of Director of Human Resources 
  Disapprove Recommendation of Director of Human Resources /s/ Timothy M. Ewell 
  Other:  ____________________________________________ ___________________________________ 

                 (for) County Administrator 
 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION:             David J. Twa, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 
Adjustment is APPROVED      DISAPPROVED        and County Administrator 
 
DATE        BY        
 

APPROVAL OF THIS ADJUSTMENT CONSTITUTES A PERSONNEL / SALARY RESOLUTION AMENDMENT 
 

POSITION ADJUSTMENT ACTION TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT FOLLOWING BOARD ACTION 

Adjust class(es) / position(s) as follows: 
 

      
 
P300 (M347) Rev 3/15/01 



REQUEST FOR PROJECT POSITIONS 
 

Department       Date 12/3/2015    No.  xxxxxx 
 
1.   Project Positions Requested: 

      
 
2.   Explain Specific Duties of Position(s) 

      
 
3.  Name / Purpose of Project and Funding Source (do not use acronyms i.e. SB40 Project or SDSS Funds) 

      
 
4.  Duration of the Project:  Start Date       End Date        
     Is funding for a specified period of time (i.e. 2 years) or on a year-to-year basis? Please explain. 

      
 
5.  Project Annual Cost 
 

a.  Salary & Benefits Costs:         b. Support Costs:        
           (services, supplies, equipment, etc.) 

 
c.  Less revenue or expenditure:        d. Net cost to General or other fund:        
 

6.  Briefly explain the consequences of not filling the project position(s) in terms of: 
a. potential future costs   d. political implications 
b. legal implications   e. organizational implications 
c. financial implications 

      
 
7.   Briefly describe the alternative approaches to delivering the services which you have considered. Indicate why these 

alternatives were not chosen. 
      

 
8.   Departments requesting new project positions must submit an updated cost benefit analysis of each project position at the 

halfway point of the project duration. This report is to be submitted to the Human Resources Department, which will 
forward the report to the Board of Supervisors. Indicate the date that your cost / benefit analysis will be submitted 
      

 
9.  How will the project position(s) be filled? 

 a. Competitive examination(s) 
 b. Existing employment list(s) Which one(s)?       
 c. Direct appointment of: 

 1. Merit System employee who will be placed on leave from current job 
 2. Non-County employee 

 
Provide a justification if filling position(s) by C1 or C2 

 
 

USE ADDITIONAL PAPER IF NECESSARY 
 
 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21786 to add (3) three Fire District Dispatcher (REWA) (represented)

positions at salary plan and grade 4N6 1489 ($5,089 - $6,820) in the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The Fire District Dispatcher classification (REWA) has a total annual cost range of $127,669 to $164,899 including

benefits and other roll-ups. There are seven salary steps in the range. The annual cost of adding three (3) Fire District

Dispatcher positions at step one is approximately $383,097, of which approximately $130,139 is a attributable to

employer pension costs. That amount would be prorated for the portion of the fiscal year remaining (depending on

the dates of appointment).

The source of funding for these positions is the District operating budget; however, the intention is to eventually

transfer the positions to the newly established EMS Ambulance Transport Fund once the implementation of EMS

ambulance services has proven to be financially sustainable and the Fund has a positive cash balance. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Denise Cannon,

925-941-3311

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the
Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Denise Cannon,   Eldreai Ellis,   James Hicks,   Cheryl Koch   

C.2

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21786 to Add Three (3) Fire District Dispatcher Positions



BACKGROUND:

The District operates the Contra Costa Regional Fire Communications Center (CCRFCC). The CCRFCC

dispatches approximately 98,000 incidents per year for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District, East

Contra Costa Fire Protection District, Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District, Moraga-Orinda Fire Protection

District, Crockett-Carquinez Fire Protection District, and the City of Pinole Fire Department. Certain automatic aid

incidents are also dispatched for the City of Richmond Fire Department. The CCRFCC answers an average of

4,800 9-1-1 calls per month with a peak of close to 5,700 9-1-1 calls per month during the summer fire season. In

addition, the CCRFCC answers an average of 15,000 administrative and “7 digit emergency” phone calls per

month with a peak of approximately 20,000 per month during the summer fire season. Since 2011, the average

number of incoming phone calls per hour, of all types, has risen approximately 27%.

The proliferation of mobile phones and ability for those phone calls to be directed to the CCRFCC is a significant

contributing factor to this increased workload. Staffing of the CCRFCC currently consists of four (4) dispatchers

and one (1) senior dispatcher per shift. These staffing levels have remained consistent since 1999. The daily

workload, incoming phone calls, and emergency incident volume have increased dramatically since 1999, but

staffing has not increased to match the workload. With the consolidation of American Medical Response (AMR)

ambulance dispatching into the CCRFCC and the contract between the District and AMR for providing service

under the County-wide ambulance contract, the District will realize approximately $1 million in efficiencies and

cost savings that would otherwise be paid to AMR for dispatching services.

These savings and efficiencies are directly tied to the CCRFCC, its facility and systems, and the personnel

carrying out the work of answering administrative and emergency phone calls and dispatching of fire and EMS

resources to serve the public. The District is seeking to add three (3) Fire District Dispatcher positions to better

and more efficiently handle emergency call processing and fire and EMS dispatching. The positions will enable

the CCRFCC to better achieve contractual obligations and industry standards for emergency call processing and

dispatching performance at all hours of the day. Additional personnel will enable the CCRFCC to provide

improved radio channel monitoring during active incidents which improves firefighter safety.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

By not adding three (3) dispatcher positions, the CCRFCC will not have the ability to improve call processing or

dispatching times and will have a difficult time maintaining standards to achieve contractual obligations and

industry standards for emergency call processing and dispatching performance at all hours of the day.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.

ATTACHMENTS

P300 No. 21786 



POSITION ADJUSTMENT REQUEST  
 NO.  21786 

DATE        
Department No./ 

Department  Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Budget Unit No. 7300  Org No. 7300  Agency No. 70 

Action Requested:  ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21786 to add three (3) Fire District Dispatcher (REWA-12 
Hour) (represented) positions at salary plan and grade 4N6 1489 ($5,089 - $6,820) in the Contra Costa County Fire Protection 
District. 

 

Proposed Effective Date:  12/8/2015 

Classification Questionnaire attached: Yes    No    /  Cost is within Department’s budget: Yes     No  

Total One-Time Costs (non-salary) associated with request:  $0.00 

Estimated total cost adjustment (salary / benefits / one time): 

Total annual cost  $383,097.00 Net County Cost  $0.00 

Total this FY  $191,548.00 N.C.C. this FY  $0.00 

SOURCE OF FUNDING TO OFFSET ADJUSTMENT  100% CCCFPD Operating Fund 

 
Department must initiate necessary adjustment and submit to CAO. 
Use additional sheet for further explanations or comments. 
  Jackie Lorrekovich 
 ______________________________________ 

               (for) Department Head 
 
REVIEWED BY CAO AND RELEASED TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 
 Timothy M. Ewell 11/20/2015 
       ___________________________________      ________________ 
                  Deputy County Administrator              Date 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS      DATE  11/23/2015 
Add (3) three Fire District Dispatcher (REWA) (represented) positions at salary plan and grade 4N6 1489 ($5,089 - $6,820)  
 
 
Amend Resolution 71/17 establishing positions and resolutions allocating classes to the Basic / Exempt salary schedule. 

Effective:     Day following Board Action. 
       (Date) /s/ Lisa Lopez 11/23/2015 
       ___________________________________        ________________ 

         (for) Director of Human Resources   Date 
 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: DATE   12/3/2015 
  Approve Recommendation of Director of Human Resources 
  Disapprove Recommendation of Director of Human Resources /s/ Timothy M. Ewell 
  Other:  ____________________________________________ ___________________________________ 

                 (for) County Administrator 
 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION:             David J. Twa, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 
Adjustment is APPROVED      DISAPPROVED        and County Administrator 
 
DATE        BY        
 

APPROVAL OF THIS ADJUSTMENT CONSTITUTES A PERSONNEL / SALARY RESOLUTION AMENDMENT 
 

POSITION ADJUSTMENT ACTION TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT FOLLOWING BOARD ACTION 

Adjust class(es) / position(s) as follows: 
 

      
 
P300 (M347) Rev 3/15/01 



REQUEST FOR PROJECT POSITIONS 
 

Department       Date          No.        
 
1.   Project Positions Requested: 

      
 
2.   Explain Specific Duties of Position(s) 

      
 
3.  Name / Purpose of Project and Funding Source (do not use acronyms i.e. SB40 Project or SDSS Funds) 

      
 
4.  Duration of the Project:  Start Date       End Date        
     Is funding for a specified period of time (i.e. 2 years) or on a year-to-year basis? Please explain. 

      
 
5.  Project Annual Cost 
 

a.  Salary & Benefits Costs:         b. Support Costs:        
           (services, supplies, equipment, etc.) 

 
c.  Less revenue or expenditure:        d. Net cost to General or other fund:        
 

6.  Briefly explain the consequences of not filling the project position(s) in terms of: 
a. potential future costs   d. political implications 
b. legal implications   e. organizational implications 
c. financial implications 

      
 
7.   Briefly describe the alternative approaches to delivering the services which you have considered. Indicate why these 

alternatives were not chosen. 
      

 
8.   Departments requesting new project positions must submit an updated cost benefit analysis of each project position at the 

halfway point of the project duration. This report is to be submitted to the Human Resources Department, which will 
forward the report to the Board of Supervisors. Indicate the date that your cost / benefit analysis will be submitted 
      

 
9.  How will the project position(s) be filled? 

 a. Competitive examination(s) 
 b. Existing employment list(s) Which one(s)?       
 c. Direct appointment of: 

 1. Merit System employee who will be placed on leave from current job 
 2. Non-County employee 

 
Provide a justification if filling position(s) by C1 or C2 

 
 

USE ADDITIONAL PAPER IF NECESSARY 
 
 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE Appropriations and Revenue Adjustment No. 5019 authorizing new revenue in the amount of

$12,300,000 in the EMS Ambulance Transport Fund (7040) and appropriate it to fund expenditures related to the

provision of ambulance transport services within Exclusive Operating Areas I, II and V within Contra Costa County. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$12,300,000, 100% EMS Ambulance Transport reimbursement revenue. The estimated revenue reflects anticipated

reimbursements from government and private insurance carriers to the District related to EMS ambulance transport

activities. 

BACKGROUND: 

On July 21, 2015 the Board approved the Health Services Director recommendation to award the EMS ambulance

transport contract to Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (CCCFPD) and directed staff to commence with

contract negotiations between the CCCFPD and the Contra Costa County Emergency Medical Services Agency

(CCCEMSA) and return with a negotiated contract for final approval. Over the past four months, County Counsel has

facilitated several all-hands contract negotiation sessions to discuss critical details of the proposed, new service

delivery model. The 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   12/08/2015 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

Contact:  Timothy Ewell,

925-335-1036

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the
Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    December  8, 2015 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C.3

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

Date: December  8, 2015

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: APPROPRIATION AND REVENUE ADJUSTMENT NO. 5019 - EMS AMBULANCE TRANSPORT FUND



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

negotiated contract supports opportunities to build efficiencies and support EMS stakeholder collaboration. Unlike

emergency ambulance service contracts in the past, this agreement also provides the County with significant

flexibility to adjust terms and conditions in response to external factors that may affect emergency ambulance

services in the future. On November 17, 2015 the Board of Supervisors and the CCCFPD Board of Directors

approved the final contract.

As a California Fire Protection District, Health and Safety Code section 13862(e) gives the District power to

provide ambulance services as part of its general operations, pursuant to 1797. In the case of CCCFPD, the

District did not previously provide ambulance services and, therefore, does not have the right to provide

ambulance services under Health and Safety Code section 1797.201. In the future, the District will be required to

bid on the provision of ambulance services during the County EMS Agency request for proposal process, should

there be a desire to continue with those contract services.

In addition to approving the contract on November 17, 2015, the Auditor Controller was authorized to establish

the EMS Ambulance Transport Fund and make transfers, as necessary, between the new fund and the CCCFPD

operating fund during the start up period of the new contract arrangement to provide working capital between the

time in which costs of providing services are incurred by the District and reimbursement revenue from

government and private insurance carriers is received.

Today's action recognizes anticipated revenue based on estimated cash flows presented by the District at the

November 17, 2015 Board of Supervisors' meeting and and establishes appropriations, both in the amount of

$12,300,000, to provide expenditure authority for the District to provide services outlined in the contact.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The District will be unable to recognize anticipated revenues and have expenditure authority to perform

contractual obligations approved by parties to the EMS Transport contract authorized on November 17, 2015.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.

ATTACHMENTS

Appropriation and Revenue Adjustment No. 5019 






	Agenda
	PR.1_Presentation on Federal Funding Programs Available to Fire-Based Ambulance Service Providers
	PR.1_ATT_GEMT_IGT PowerPoint
	D.3_Fire Chief's Report
	D.3_ATT_Fire Chief Report
	D.4_Cost Recovery for Emergency Ambulance Services
	D.4_ATT_Ordinance No. 2015-24
	D.4_ATT_Ordinance No. 2015-25
	D.4_ATT_CY2016 Service Rate Analysis
	D.4_ATT_Service Contract_ Contra Costa County and Contra Costa County Fire Protection District
	D.5_Confirm Adoption of Health Care Changes in MOUs with the United Chief Officers' Association and UPFF, Local 1230
	D.5_ATT_7507 Report for L1230 dated January 9, 2015
	D.5_ATT_7507 Report for UCOA dated November 10, 2015
	D.6_Government Code 7507 - Chief Executive Acknowledgement of Future Costs of Benefits -  United Chief Officers' Association and UPFF, Local 1230
	D.6_ATT_7507 Report for UCOA dated November 10, 2015
	D.6_ATT_7507 Report for L1230 dated January 9, 2015
	C.1_Establish Classification of Fire Investigator-56 Hour, reallocate three positions_ and abolish Fire Investigator
	C.1_ATT_P300 No. 21772
	C.2_ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21786 to Add Three (3) Fire District Dispatcher Positions
	C.2_ATT_P300 No. 21786
	C.3_APPROPRIATION AND REVENUE ADJUSTMENT NO. 5019 - EMS AMBULANCE TRANSPORT FUND
	C.3_ATT_Appropriation and Revenue Adjustment No. 5019

